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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

AEEMRERHE
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RESULTS SUMMARY
E St

HK$’'000 For the year ended 31 March
S =— > Z=
FET BE3A I HLFE Changes
2021 & 2020 &£ £E)
Revenue 234,504 218,853 +7.2%
WA
Retail 216,979 198,594 +9.3%
Wholesale & Special projects 17,525 20,259 -13.5%
#HELRTRIER
Gross profit 152,891 134,368 +13.8%
EH
Gross profit margin 65.2% 61.4% +3.8 pp
FHZ 185 5%
EBITDA* 35,239 2,455 +1,335.4%
Net profit/(loss) 16,826 (11,628) N/A
FaA, (EE) ANiE A
Basic earnings/(loss) per share HK2.10 cents HK(1.45) cents N/A
SREARF(FE) 41 AL it A
Total dividends per share HKO0.63 cent - N/A
R SEE AL EA

* EBITDA represents earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, to reflect the Group's core operating
performance. The Group has fully adopted HKFRS16, which a depreciation of right-of-use assets associated with
lease was recorded in both financial years.

EBITDA I8 BHHTE R HBI&EF » IR MAEBAIR OREKT - XEFE 2 EFRNE BN FHREERZE 16 3% &HIE -
TR ER BAF 8 7 BT E B RRVE IR B EHTE -

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEET RSt

The board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) announces the
consolidated results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2021 (the “Year”).

RESULTS

Despite a challenging retail landscape during the Year, the
Group’s total revenue increased to HK$234.5 million (2020:
HK$218.9 million). Gross profit increased by 13.8% to
HK$152.9 million (2020: HK$134.4 million), while gross profit
margin increased by 3.8 percentage points to 65.2% (2020:
61.4%), mainly attributable to a larger contribution from
“at e home” which enjoyed a higher profit margin.

Revenue from the retail segment amounted to HK$217.0
million (2020: HK$198.6 million), accounting for 92.5% (2020:
90.7%) of the Group’s total revenue. Among the retail
revenue, aggregate sales revenue of “Ulferts” and “Ulferts
Signature” amounted to HK$151.4 million (2020: HK$153.7
million), and remained the key revenue contributor,
accounting for 69.8% (2020: 77.4%) of total retail revenue.
The sales revenue of “at ¢ home” reported a growth of 68.0%
to HK$40.5 million (2020: HK$24.1 million), accounting for
18.7% (2020: 12.1%) of total retail revenue.

Attributable to an increase in revenue, and a decrease in
operating costs as a result of the Group’s sound and
effective cost control measures, coupled with a one-off other
income recognised during the Year, the Group was able to
achieve a net profit of HK$16.8 million during the Year (2020:
net loss of HK$11.6 million), while a net loss of HK$1.0
million was recorded for the six months ended 30 September
2020, indicating a turnaround during the second half of the
Year. An earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation increased markedly to HK$35.2 million (2020:
HK$2.5 million).

Basic earnings per share was HK2.10 cents (2020: basic
loss of HK1.45 cents per share). The Group has
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK0.63
cent (2020: Nil) per share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR e YR

MARKET REVIEW

The Covid-19 pandemic is taking a toll on the whole world.
Nevertheless, the regional as well as global stock markets
stayed resilient during the Year and, in tandem with the low
interest environment, laid a solid foundation for Hong Kong’s
property market. Local property developers have continued
launching new residential units, and transactions in the
second-hand property market have seen good progress in
recovering from the beginning of the Year. Supported by the
recent roll-out of vaccination programs, store traffic has seen
a slight improvement, and consumer confidence has been
gradually picking-up. Despite the high unemployment rate,
local consumption sentiment, in particular regarding home
furniture, regained momentum during the second half of the
Year. On the other hand, customer demand for home furniture
and related products became more sophisticated, as
consumers spent more time at home due to public health
concerns, which provided more market opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LR e YR

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading retailer of high quality home furniture
mainly imported from Europe. The Company’s shares have
been listed (the “IPO”) on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since January 2018.

The Group has been established for over 45 years, and takes
pride in providing superior quality stylish furniture in Hong
Kong. As at 31 March 2021, the Group operated 23 points-
of-sale (“POS”) in Hong Kong, covering 5 retail lines -
“Ulferts Signature”, "Ulferts’, “at « home”, “Dormire”’ and
“Ulfenbo’. “Ulferts” and “Ulferts Signature’ are dedicated
to elevating customers’ home living standard with style and
quality, and offers a wide variety of contemporary style
furniture products targeting middle to high end groups.
“at ¢ home” offers quality compact furniture and home
accessories to suit small living spaces for modern families.
“Dormire”’, on the other hand, offers mattresses, pillows,
sofabeds, sofas and other ancillary items under the Group’s
self-owned brand “Ulfenbo”, targeting the mass market.
“Ulfenbo” products are also distributed through its retail
networks including department store counters, pop-up stores
and roadshows, as well as wholesaling to over 200 dealers.
Additionally, there are several online shopping platforms
which maximise market coverage.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIRERT:

mEL 3T

Retail Business

Effective Market Segmentation

With a clear understanding of market segmentation, the
Group defines and identifies target consumer profiles in
order to develop product and marketing strategies to
reach out to their specific preferences.

“Ulferts”, the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality, stylish and luxury furniture. It
offers a wide variety of contemporary style furniture
products, enabling its customers to create their ideal
homes. The Group operates “Ulferts” showrooms across
Hong Kong, targeting middle to high-mid income groups.
“Ulferts Signature” offers high-end branded furniture
products and also luxury European tailor-made furniture.
It targets up-market customers seeking a superior
lifestyle.
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Another retail line, “at ¢ home”, offers quality, stylish and
compact furniture. It targets the mid-range segment and
is geared towards the needs of young couples and new
families.

“Ulfenbo” products mainly focus on mass market
consumers who demand quality and affordable
mattresses, pillows and other ancillary items to enhance
their sleep experience. To facilitate the retailing of
“Ulfenbo” products, the Group operates a number of
“Dormire” specialty stores which are typically small-
scale, and are designed with a casual and relaxing
environment, to highlight smart living style. “Ulfenbo”
products are also distributed at department store
counters, pop-up stores and roadshows for enhancing
the market reach.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B A D
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Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products —
ranging from leather and fabric sofas, cabinets, dining
tables and chairs, through wardrobes, coffee tables and
sideboards, to beds, which are imported from European
and Asian countries. The Group currently carries more
than 50 furniture brands in “Ulferts Signature” and
“Ulferts” showrooms, as well as “at ¢ home” stores,
including international brands such as himolla, Malerba,
Gamma, Cornelio Cappellini, Kristalia, Tonelli and
Domicil, most of which the Group has built long-standing
relationship. “at ¢ home” particularly offers various
compact furniture products with special features and
functions to suit the local small living spaces, as well as
chic Scandinavian home accessories.

The Group also offers mattresses, pillows, sofas,
sofabeds, beds, as well as other ancillary items under its
self-owned label “Ulfenbo”. The Group provides different
models of mattresses and pillows, in various sizes with
varying supports and features, to meet diverse customer
needs.

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channel

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 23 POS in Hong
Kong, with the number of outlets in each retail line as
follows:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B ES A 1
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“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either
upscale residential areas or major shopping areas,
targeting middle to high-mid income groups. With its
solid presence in these mature locations, the Group
enjoys substantial foot traffic and a high brand
reputation. The Group’s flagship store, “Ulferts
Signature’, is a 3-storey store with gross floor area of
approximately 21,700 square feet, in Hung Hom. It
features more luxurious lines of furniture and
masterpieces with opulent designs and sophisticated
finishing and excellent craftsmanship. Premium brands
including Cornelio Cappellini, Malerba and Crystal Stone
are available at “Ulferts Signature”.

“at ¢ home” stores are generally located in shopping
malls which carries a furniture theme, and there has
been growing awareness of the brand among residents
and shoppers. Meanwhile, “Dormire’ specialty stores
and “Ulfenbo’ department store counters, pop-up stores
and roadshows are situated in residential areas, to
capitalise on the market potential.

During the Year, 1 “at ¢ home” mega pop-up store was
opened in Mongkok, and 3 “Ulfenbo” pop-up stores
were opened in Shatin, Sheung Shui and Tuen Mun
respectively, to further expand the market coverage.

Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts Signature” and “Ulferts” showrooms are
spacious, with a stylish and elegant environment,
enabling the Group to display a wide spectrum of
products for customers to touch and feel and to
maximise customers’ shopping experience. The
ambience, setting and placement of furniture within the
distinctive display zones have all been tailor-designed
by a dedicated visual merchandising team to impart
harmonious, home-like comfort. The salespersons are
well-trained and offer customers advice catering for their
personal needs. In recognition of its service excellence,
“Ulferts” received the “Quality Service Leader Seasonal
Award - Furniture & Home Accessories Category”
(“Quarterly Service Leader Award”) award for the periods
April to June 2020 and July to September 2020, as well
as the “2020 Quality Service Retailer of the Year —
Furniture & Home Accessories Category”, while
“at e home” received the Quarterly Service Leader Award
for the period January to March 2021, in the Quality
Service Programme (formerly known as “Mystery
Shoppers Programme”) organised by the Hong Kong
Retail Management Association.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEERT:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIBET RS

e Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for
driving long-term growth and success. To enhance brand
awareness, the Group conducted a range of marketing
and promotional campaigns spanning social media
engagements, print advertisements, TV coverage,
outdoor billboards and advertising on regular basis as
well as pop-up exhibitions at suitable venues. It also
launched promotional campaigns such as seasonal sale,
annual sale and stock clearance sale, as well as joint
promotions with banks and other financial institutions.

Wholesale Business

The Group also operates a wholesale business spanning
mattresses, sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label
“Ulfenbo”, through over 200 dealers in Hong Kong and
Macau. Based on its long establishment and quality
products, the “Ulfenbo” brand has been recognised by the
“Hong Kong Top Brand Mark” for seven consecutive years
since 2014, under the Hong Kong Top Brand Scheme
organised by the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and Hong Kong Brand Development Council.

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group
has a special projects division, which undertakes furniture-
related projects primarily for corporate customers such as
cinemas, hotels, showflats, offices, staff quarters and tertiary
institutions. The division provides services ranging from
planning and design, through procuring custom-made
furniture to final installation for corporate customers, as well
as consultation and liaison services with furniture
manufacturers.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the economies of countries across the world
will continue to be hit hard by the pandemic, posing
challenges for the macro-economic environment. However,
China’s overall economy has been recovering rapidly,
providing a solid back-up to the local economy. Though there
are still a few sporadic local outbreaks, social activities have
gradually returned to relatively normal, providing favourable
conditions for the retail market. Many industry leaders have
expressed hopes that mass vaccine inoculation will speed up
the resumption of travel and revival of the economy. It is
generally believed that both retail and property markets will
then exhibit an even more obvious recovery in momentum.
The Group therefore remains cautiously optimistic about the
future retail market.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIEET RSt

Consumers are increasingly using online platforms to make
purchases during the pandemic. In response, the Group
continues enhancing its online sales platforms, and
showcases and promotes its furniture products on mobile
apps or by social media engagements. Meanwhile, the
Group will also continue enhancing its sales network and
strengthening its market presence. As the macro
environment remains uncertain in the near term, the Group
will closely monitor the market situation, and make
adjustments in response to changes, and strive to achieve
sustainable growth in the long term.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

There was no change in the capital structure during the Year.
Cash and cash equivalents of the Group increased to
HK$93.7 million (2020: HK$63.7 million) as at 31 March
2021, which were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
As at 31 March 2021, bank borrowings of the Group was nil
(2020: nil), hence its gearing ratio was zero (2020: zero). The
Group has available banking facilities of approximately
HK$97.0 million. The cash position and banking facilities
available enable the Group to retain high flexibility and
endurance to cater for future development and market
uncertainty.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$162.7 million (2020:
HK$118.0 million) and HK$83.2 million (2020: HK$84.4
million), respectively. Current ratio and quick ratio of the
Group were 2.0 (2020: 1.4) and 1.4 (2020: 1.0), respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2021,
the Board considered that the Group had sufficient working
capital for its operations and future development plans
against market challenges.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIBET RS

Use of Proceeds

During the IPO in January 2018, the net proceeds from the
listing were approximately HK$92.6 million. An analysis of the
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 March 2021 is set out
below:

Fii8sIE R &

R 2018 £ 1 B ERARBE » LS
FIEBEEA A 92,600,000 BT » FTEFRIE
FREEZE 202143 8 31 HzERABRD
MrEn T -

Actual use of
net proceeds

up to
Allocation of 31 March 2021
use of net FSFRIEFHE
proceeds M#ZE 2021 &F
FriEsIE¥%8 3HA 31 HZ
ZRE & BERAE
(HK$ million) (HKS$ million)
(B8#T) (&%)
Capital expenditure, rental deposits and overhead expenses 34.2 34.2
for opening of “at e home” retail stores
FIak "at e home | REE 7 EAR N  HERESIKEMEH
Strengthening the Group’s product portfolio 24.2 24.2
BICAREE CEMRAES
Enhancing “Ulfenbo” sales channels and brand awareness 10.3 10.3
whoe TEEE ) ERHERENRENEE
Capital expenditure and rental deposits for opening of “Ulferts” 9.1 9.1
retail store
FIsk "BUEBEME ) SEECEARAIHNEERS
Upgrading information technology 5.7 0.6
RITEMBH R
General working capital 9.1 9.1
—MEEESD
Total §&t 92.6 87.5
Employees and Remuneration Policy EE R IFHMESR

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s number of employees was
138 (2020: 125). Total staff costs including Director’s
remuneration and the other staff costs for the Year were
HK$45.7 million (2020: HK$41.9 million). Each employee’s
remuneration was determined in accordance with individual’s
responsibilities, competence and skills, experience and
performance as well as market pay levels. Staff benefits
include medical and life insurance, retirement benefits and
other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company
has adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are
set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in note
23 to the consolidated financial statement of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERSHRITHABZERE

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAIl, aged 65, an Executive Director of the
Company and Chairman of the Board. He has been involved
in the management of the Group since 1992 and is
responsible for overseeing the financial management and
advising on the business strategic planning and
development of our Group. He is the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, Mr. Wong is also a
director of Emperor International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 163) (“Emperor International”), Emperor Entertainment
Hotel Limited (Stock Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”),
Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited (Stock Code: 887)
(“Emperor W&J”) and Emperor Culture Group Limited (Stock
Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”), all being listed members
under Emperor Group. Having over 30 years of finance and
management experience, he has diversified experiences in
different businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of
furniture to manufacturing, property investment and
development, hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and
jewellery, financial and securities services, cinema
development and operation to entertainment production and
investment, artiste management as well as media and
publication. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and General Manager and
Company Secretary

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 56, an Executive Director of the
Company and the General Manager of the Group. She joined
the Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the business
operational management and policy implementation in the
Group. Ms. Mok is the Company Secretary of the Company
and a member of the Executive Committee as well as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before
joining our Group, she was a director of Emperor
International and Emperor E Hotel from February 2000 to July
2011 and has accumulated over 18 years’ experience in
corporate management and possesses experience in
businesses including property investment and development,
retailing, wholesaling, marketing and trading. Ms. Mok was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by
The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a Degree of
Master of Business Administration awarded by The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.

BITES (£E)

BEEE BEe5m RARRAATES
REFZER - KA 1992 FRB2HEFHE
AEE aFEEVBEETIRARERN
EBRBABINBRERER - WAEEA
ARTEREGIRAFIHEEGKE L
RANBETHBARCES - =X4ER
TREEER () ARAR (ROAK
5% 0 163) T(REEER ), REREAE
BRATR (RO 296) T(HERE
BIE ) REFEHRIREFRARA (KM
5:887) (T REEERHRE ) MEREXE
EXEEERAR (KO 491) (TR
EXMLER ) EF  ZFRAPR/R
EXEBEETCLEHKE - REHFE 30 F
BN EEKER  NEIRXEBE KM
HBELRFEUEREX YXKRENE
RABEESE ERUETE SRES
R~ Bl R Lk EELURIRERUE IR
E BABELLEREAHREE S
BHEZKR mEERBBETTNAS
z%%%%&%ﬂ@%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

5 .

= ==

HITESRUEERATNE

ERE RES6H ' RAQAHNITES
FRAEEBKE - R 2011 F 7 ANA
AEEH  aEAEEEERKREETE REBUER
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FZEERELURARNDETHEARZ
EE o NMEBELREER > 8 2000 F 2
BZE2011F 7 AR L% 2 R4
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CHKR TEERVERERER T
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERSHRITHABZERE

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA (Former name: Fan Man
Seung), aged 58, an Executive Director of the Company. She
has been involved in the management of the Group since
July 1992 and is responsible for overseeing the overall
corporate management and advising on the business
strategy of the Group. She is the Chairperson of the
Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee of the
Company as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Currently, Ms. Fan is also a director of Emperor
International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J and Emperor
Culture. Having over 32 years of corporate management
experience, she possesses diversified experience in different
businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of
furniture, property investment and development, hotel and
hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, cinema development and operation to
entertainment production and investment, artiste
management as well as media and publication. Ms. Fan is a
lawyer by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified
accountant, and holds a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 47, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She
is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as
a Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 28
years of experience in the accounting profession. She holds
a Bachelor of Accounting Degree awarded by The University
of Hong Kong and a Master of Corporate Finance Degree
awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

EERSHRITHABZERE

Independent Non-executive Director

CHIU KIN FAI, aged 47, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a
solicitors firm, T.H. Koo & Associates. He was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1998 and holds a Bachelor of Laws
Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

NG HOI YUE, aged 57, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive
director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Asian Citrus
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 73) and an independent non-
executive director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 1076). He was previously an
independent non-executive director of Emperor Culture until
13 November 2018. Mr. Ng has been practising as a
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in England.

BIIERTES

BEEIE - 47 5% R 2018 1 BEZEA
RARBUIERITESE - HARAAIRSE
ZESITRLAERZESNEEELRE
E2KE - BAA AL ESEMITHNEE
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fir
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

—_—

SEREHE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 66.

No interim dividend (2020: Nil) was paid to the shareholders
of the Company (“Shareholders”) during the Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK0.63 cent (2020: Nil) per share for the Year, amounting
to HK$5,040,000 to those Shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members on 20 August 2021 (Friday),
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 10 August
2021 (Tuesday) (“2021 AGM”).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year and an
analysis of the likely future development of the Group’s
business are set out in the Management Discussion and
Analysis from pages 5 to 14. Description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 52 to 56 of this
annual report and note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this
report.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, key relationships with the Company’s key
stakeholders as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have significant impact on the Company
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report 2020/2021 of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEHRE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RETAINED PROFITS/ACCUMULATED LOSS

Details of movements in the retained profits/accumulated
loss of the Group during the Year are set out on page 69 of
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE GROUP

The Group reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31 March 2021 represent the retained profits amounting
to HK$5,295,000 (2020: nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 144 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

ME - BB R =R
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

—_—

SEREHE

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
(will cease directorship on 1 July 2021)
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yee Man
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out from
pages 15 to 17 of this annual report. Details of Directors’
remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with Article 80(1) and (3) of the Company'’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Chi Fai, Mr. Chiu Kin Fai
and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue shall retire by rotation at the 2021 AGM
and, being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election
thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the 2021 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company’s Articles of
Association and in the directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the
Group respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

—_—

SEERETHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors adopted by the Company (“Ulferts
Securities Code”) were as follows:

(A) Long position interests in the Company

None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company.

(B) Long position interests in associated corporations
of the Company

(i) Ordinary shares

EFRGEITHABZESHER

MR2021E 3 A 31 H  EFXARNAZE
BITBAERAARREEEEZE (&
RESNBERL ("EHLBPEKRE L)
FEXVES) 2K~ HERD X ERESE
EEANBREESNPEBKRRBIZE 352
BRETHEZECMTRHR R XX
B RBAQRAFEMNe (EFETES
RZMZAESFR) ("BYLFESSFR L) A
FITHERNBDERBRAzEERAR
mr
(A)RADTIZFEHEZE
BREZEENARARRITHRAENRAK
NAKMD - HERDSEEEPES
ERRERTAR -

(B) RALABEBCEE 2 F AR

(i) Z&ER

Number of % of issued

shares voting shares

Name of associated Capacity/Nature interested MERT

Name of Director corporation of interests HaE#RSZ BRERE

EEHE HEEEE & T B RS R EE B 13 %

Ms. Fan Man Seung,  Emperor International Beneficial Owner 10,500,000 0.29%

Vanessa REBIRR BERHEEA

SERUE T

(ii) Debentures

Name of associated
corporation

HREBCEE R

Emperor International
7 2 B

Name of Director

EENR

Mr. Wong Chi Fai

515

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
Directors nor chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).

Capacity/Nature of interests

e
Interest in a controlled corporation
NS N

(i) &S

Amount of
debentures
held
FirEEEsE

HK$2,000,000
2,000,000 77T

BRI EEESN 0 R 2021 FE3R 31 H
BESEFHAAQATREITERAENRKAT
KEAMEEREE (ERRESFLBPER
BIZE XV H ) R AR ~ BERGD XE
EERHEETAERIAS -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

—_—

SEREHE

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. Particulars of the Share
Option Scheme are summarized and set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. No share option was
granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as stated above, at the end of the Year and at no
time during the Year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their spouse or children under 18 years of
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors nor their
respective close associates was interested in any business
which was considered to compete or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

—_—

SEERETHE

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERSTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2021, the following persons or
corporations (other than a Director or a chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
(““Shares”)

Capacity/Nature of
interests
BinfEmttE

Interest in a controlled
corporation
INCELYNCIPd i

Albert Yeung Investments Holdings Limited
(“AY Investments Holdings”)
BREREZEREBRAT ("HXHREZR )
First Trust Management AG
(“First Trust”) trust

AR EZEEA
Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert

(“Dr. Albert Yeung”) trust
BREEL ("HEL)) MABIBEFEZRILA
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) FofBEss

BENERE (THERT )
Note:

These Shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Investments Holdings. AY
Investments Holdings was held by First Trust in trust for a private
discretionary trust which was set up by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of
being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk also had deemed
interests in the same Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors
or chief executives of the Company were not aware of any
person or corporation (other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had, or were deemed or
taken to have, any interests or short positions in any Shares
or underlying Shares as recorded in the DI Register.

Trustee of a private discretionary

Founder of a private discretionary
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Number of
Shares % of issued
interested voting Shares
HmEEDZ HE BT
LEavE (= BREERK %
600,000,000 75%
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600,000,000 75%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED

TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract which
was significant in relation to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

During the Year, the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions with connected persons (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company:

A. Master Leasing Agreement (“2018 MLA”)

Date:

Parties:

Nature:

24 May 2018

(1) The Company
(2) Emperor International

The 2018 MLA sets out the framework of
the terms governing all existing and future
tenancy/licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy
Transaction(s)”) regarding leasing of
certain properties (including offices or retail
shops) from Emperor International for the
period from 24 May 2018 to 31 March 2021
with aggregate tenancy annual caps being
set at HK$9,800,000 for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 (“Aggregate
Tenancy Annual Caps”).

Pursuant to the 2018 MLA, relevant
member(s) of the Group and any member(s)
of Emperor International may from time to
time enter into any definitive leasing
agreements in relation to any Tenancy
Transaction (“Definitive Leasing
Agreement”) on terms and conditions as
may be agreed between the relevant
parties. The terms of each Definitive
Leasing Agreement shall be on normal
commercial terms or on terms which are no
less favorable than those offered by
independent third parties. The terms and
rental shall be subject to arm’s length
negotiation and determined based on the
condition of the properties and with
reference to the then prevailing market
rents on properties comparable in location,
area and permitted use.
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Aggregate amount: The aggregate amount paid/payable in respect

Connected
relationship:

Announcement:

Effective Date:

Remarks:

of the Tenancy Transactions for the Year was
HK$7,198,000.

As the Company and Emperor International
were indirectly controlled by the respective
private discretionary trusts which were both
set up by Dr. Albert Yeung who is the
deemed substantial shareholder of the
Company, Emperor International was
deemed as connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

27 June 2018

9 August 2018, whereupon the Aggregate
Tenancy Annual Caps had replaced all the
then annual caps previously obtained by
the Company for the Tenancy Transactions.

With the expiration of the 2018 MLA, the
Company entered into new master leasing
agreement with Emperor International on 3
December 2020 (“2020 MLA") to regulate
arrangements for Tenancy Transactions
between the parties for a successive term
of 3 years from 1 April 2021. The Board has
proposed to obtain independent
Shareholders’ approval on the aggregate
annual tenancy caps regarding 2020 MLA
at the 2021 AGM. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 8
June 2021 for details.

R
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B. Master Agreement on Provision of Products and B. IR tEMERE 2EGE (#2157
Services (“Master Agreement”’) =)
Amount for
Date of agreement the Year
Scope of Products and eEASE (HK$’000)
Name of counterparty Services provided Term (D/M/Y) AEEZER
Eapal e A REE MR IRFEHES wEEH (BB &) (FEx)
Albert Yeung Holdings  Sales/provision of goods and services by (i)  15/05/2020 8,838
Limited the Group to AY Holdings (as agent (i)  01/04/2020 - 31/03/2023
(“AY Holdings”) acting on behalf of relevant members

BRREERKBRAT  of Emperor Group):
(TB2RELLER ) AEERGTREEER (EARE
HEEERBKEATDTEN
RE) HE REFRERE

(i)  Selling products and providing
furniture procurement
consultancy services
HEERIRERMIRE
e RS

(i)  Selling furniture coupons
HERMES

(iii) Providing other types of ancillary
services and any transaction of
revenue nature
REEAE R BB RIS KELT
BRAEENEARZ

(collectively “Goods & Services”)

(%7 TEmRRE L)

Connected relationship: REERAR -

Emperor Group includes all companies (including their HEEEAEEBELTAFA NS
respective associates) directly or indirectly controlled by KNG EEEENEEZHNME
various discretionary trusts set up by Dr. Albert Yeung ANF(BEESSENBEER AR )(E
from time to time (including but not limited to Emperor FEEARNREZEHR  REREH
International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Capital Group 5 mEBESEEEFRAR (KOHR
Limited (Stock Code: 717), Emperor W&J, Emperor $EITIT) N HEBEHKKE « HE UL
Culture and their respective subsidiaries and associates), EXLARFESBENNE AR MEBE
other than the Group. Dr. Albert Yeung, is a deemed N EREERI - BIETESE
substantial shareholder of the Company. BAANTZEERE -
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements

Save as the "project sales" in the amount of HK$8,838,000
out of HK$8,981,000 and the "lease payments" in the amount
of HK$7,198,000 in note 25(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the other related party transactions as
set out in such note 25 constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are required to be
disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Company had complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the above connected transactions.

Auditor’s Letter on Disclosed Continuing Connected
Transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s disclosed continuing connected transactions
("CCTs”) in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’'s Letter”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The auditor had issued unqualified conclusions in respect of
the disclosed CCTs of the Group as set out from pages 24 to
26 of this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor's Letter had been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors
on Disclosed Continuing Connected Transactions

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) had reviewed
the CCTs and the Auditor’'s Letter and had confirmed that
these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may
be); and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

BFHERAT
BB IEMERMET 25(a) A TTEEH
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Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract which was significant in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received from each of the INEDs an
annual confirmation of the independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered that all of
the INEDs remained independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which
ensures a clear link of business strategy and a close
alignment with the Shareholders’ interest and current market
best practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference
to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Executive and Non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group
and applicability of performance-based remuneration. The
Directors’ fee are paid in line with market practice. No
individual should determine his or her own remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’'s responsibilities, competence and skills,
experience and performance as well as market pay level.
Remuneration package includes, as the case may be, basic
salary, Directors’ fees, housing allowances, contribution to
pension schemes, discretionary bonus relating to financial
performance of the Group and individual performance, ad-
hoc rewards, share options and other competitive fringe
benefits such as medical and life insurances. Details of the
emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods
or rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 30% (2020: 30%)
of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchase attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest
supplier accounted for approximately 38.4% (2020: 41.9%)
and 13.5% (2020: 14.6%) respectively of the Group’s total
purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the
Company) had any interest in the above major suppliers of
the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
from pages 30 to 59 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2021 AGM and a resolution for
their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
8 June 2021

FTEERRMEER

KEE AEEBAREFAAERZIHER
MR REBMA D IEAERARFEE
U AFEZEA A 30% (2020 £ F 30% ) ©

KEE » KEEBAKRKBEREAREERRK
HERME R EBRBELAEERFEE
ZERBRETED B L 38.4% (2020 £F -
41.9%) M 13.5% (2020 4F : 14.6% ) °

B RECEEBMBALHEESMA
BREARBRERITRMNEE 5% U L2
MR > BER DA EEE 2 MRS
TR (RER -

TEEAR
RNRRA FECESESAERENAE
WEI0E S B MESERE -

BHZATRFERE
RIBAQNBDABZARENNKEBEESEFRN
H RAUBRERIICEEEETITH
B KRB EBITRMOHERT EHARRFTR
EED 25% Z BEHMARTRE -

%20 Em

RRGEEMEBHER 2021 WABE R
& DRIE MEBEARATRREZA
BRENE LIRS -

REEFE

BEGHE

EE

B8

20215 6 58 H

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

29



30

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN L
EXRERHE

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance for the Company so as to ensure
“Accountability, Responsibility and Transparency” towards
Shareholder, stakeholders, investors as well as employees of
Company.

The Board has adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules. For the Year, the Company had fully complied
with all the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprised seven Directors,
with four Executive Directors and three INEDs who possess
the skills, experience and expertise either in the same
industry or relevant to the management of the business of the
Group. The biographies of the current Directors are set out
on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report under the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Executives” section.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wong Chi Fai has been appointed as the Chairman of the
Board who provides leadership for the Board. With the
support of the company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”), he ensures that all Directors receive,
in a timely manner, adequate information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at the board meetings. He is
responsible for ensuring that the Board works effectively and
performs its responsibilities. He holds meetings without the
presence of Executive Directors with INEDs at least once a
year.

During the Year, Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky has been the
Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the Group and Executive
Director who is responsible for the Group’s strategic
planning, business growth and development as well as
overseeing different functions. The day-to-day operation and
management of the Group’s businesses are delegated to Ms.
Mok Fung Lin, lvy, the Chief Operating Officer (*“COQ”") of the
Group (also being an Executive Director and the Company
Secretary).

The Board considers that the segregation of duties make the
Board and the operation of the Group function effectively.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1

EFRHNARATEFTRRKFZEEE
B DIBERAKER - AARFNE RE
BUREERMK "THE BEAEEH
B ZHIE -

EEEERMZEBRDERES EHR
AR+ " hEERTAL (TRXER
SPRL) BISTRIRSC - RAFE » ARF—
BE2WEST LRS- Az b
ERTRIZATASTRIGRX -

EET
EETHEL

MR2021E3 A 31H E2HLRES
HEk > BRENZAMITEER=RBBIIIEH
TESR  HEEBNERITENEAREE
XBEENEBE TR KBAFEEANH -
REEERERENAERELSEITE &
ENERITHRABZERE,, —8 -

FRERATEHREE
ELESEEREIARERTEIR  BFE

BERE - AAARFZRAWE (" AR
=) BT WRAREES A KEU
BADEN  MEBFEENNESTSEE
FomzER - HEEEREZTSHIM
BERKBITEBE - HEBIUIFATES
BFEELET-RRBATESHENS

2
B

RAFER  REBEERBAEEZITH
mE (TTBRE L) KRATESF 8EX
SECRIERE  XHERRABE T &
BEEENABE AEELERE (T2E
BE ) EREXL (FARITEERAT
WE) BEREESARBEXBCHEEE
NEH -

EFERR EFGZNTHAREREN
AEBERBERBELF -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN N
EXERHE

Independent Non-executive Directors

All INEDs are professionals with valuable experience and
expertise in legal, accounting or auditing in business areas
who contribute impartial view and make independent
judgment on issues to be discussed at Board meetings.
Each of them has been appointed for an initial term of three
years which is renewed automatically for successive term of
one year subject to early termination with notice being
served by either party. The terms of the INEDs are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election provision
under the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Company had received confirmation of independence
from each of the INEDs. Based on the annual review
conducted by the Nomination Committee, the Board
considered each of them to be independent by reference to
the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
INEDs had been expressly identified as such in all corporate
communications of the Company that disclose the names of
Directors.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of the success of
the Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing
and supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic
directions and monitoring the financial and management
performance of the Group.

Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has been delegated powers and authorities to
carry out the day-to-day management and operation of the
Group, formulate business policies and make decision on
key business issues. The Executive Committee shall have all
powers and authorities of the Board except the following
matters as set out in a “Formal Schedule on Matters
specifically reserved by the Board”:

e determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

e approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

e declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;
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approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

approving publication of the announcement for notifiable
transactions (except for discloseable transactions in
relation to lease transactions recognizing the right-of-use
asset according to HKFRS 16 “Lease”) under the Listing
Rules;

approving non-exempted connected transactions/non-
exempted continuing connected transactions (other than
those transactions took place from time to time under the
master agreement(s) previously approved by the Board/
Shareholders (as the case may be)) under the Listing
Rules;

approving proposed transactions requiring Shareholders’
approval as stipulated under the Listing Rules;

approving major capital re-structuring and issue of new
securities of the Company;

approving the establishment of Board committees;

approving policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, including but not
limited to risk management policy, remuneration policy
and corporate governance policy;

approving financial assistance to Directors;

ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions; and

approving such other matters or transactions as
specified by the Board or as thought fit by the Executive
Committee or as required by all applicable laws, rules
and regulations from time to time.
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Induction, Support and Professional Development of
Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors,
duty of disclosure of equity and business interest in the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to
newly appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as
Directors. All Directors have been updated on the latest
developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to enable
Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses in order to assist them to perform their
duties to the Company.

The Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
During the Year, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record of
training to the Company.

Name of Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai E e
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky Rt
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy ZREL L
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa DEk=ie Ch et
Ms. Chan Yee Man BriaZEt+
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai BiEELL
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue 8T EE

Relationship the Board Members

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relations) among each other.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any legal action against the Directors.

EEZHE  XREREXER

FEEEYEERKEBEAESCRE
REE - BRANRESAEBRELN KRG
NAEBECERNESEZFECEEZ
MHEESIER  MRFTESEZTE -
NEeEREHRNREREZERTESEMN
BR - 2EBENECARLTEILHME
BEEBERCBREESSZFER » XME
REG > BRNARSHERBITTEXELT
Heed ZEFSCECERF FE2354
HEEBRTRAEERES KRB HE
ERLUBBEEARQATRNTRE  BH
RAATAHE o

EEER  RECBTEEERTARE
BESEIhXERTRIMRIE A6S
k- RAFE SEFHESHEFESX
BRE BBHEBBEUTEECE#E
Treyh/ BEME UBREBRES
K RE » WRANRIRMIEIRCE °

Topics of training covered

55501 AR
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Directors’ Attendance and Time Commitment ESHFETREAREFR—ZA
The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Year KREBSFNAFEHFEERZZBRE YA
is set out below: T

No. of megtings attepded/held
HESE BIEENY

Corporate
Audit Remuneration Nomination  Governance Executive 2020 AGM

Name of Directors Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee 2020 R EBE
EEN% ENWEEE HMESE REZEE LEERESE WiTEEE AE
Executive Directors
HTEE
Mr. Wong Chi Faj (e 505 N/A REH 11 N/A TEA N/A RER 8/8 1
HEoBLE (M)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 55  NATRER  NATER  NATER  NATRER 8/8 17
RERLE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy 55  NARER  NARER  NATER  NARER 8/8 1
REELL
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa "2 55 NAXRER  NARER 1 i 8/8 1
SR L (=)
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHTEE
Ms. Chan Yee Man (e 5/5 33 111 1 N/A RN N/A RER 1
’}%ﬁ;ﬁi (it 3)
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai tee4 5/5 33 NATRER 7 i N/A R 1
REBLLE e
Mr. Ng Hoi Yug (et 505 3/3 1 N/A 11 N/A AEBH 11
METFLE W20
Total number of meetings held: 5 3 1 1 1 8 1
BrEzcey:

Notes: BosE -

1. Chairman of the Executive Committee 1. HITEESER

2. Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee 2. PEEREEEEE

3. Chairperson of the Audit Committee 3. BREEEERE

4. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 4. REEERTE

5. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 5. HNEERERE

During the Year, the Chairman held a meeting with INEDs WRER ' ERBATEEELENEBERT
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance #1RIBMEEASTEIE A2.7 BNRETE
with code provision A.2.7 of the CG Code. BBV IFRITESEIT —REE -

The Board has reviewed the contribution required from each ZEZEgePERiISEELETALNTBER
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company Fi{EEEl BEMANRAEER  2EESE
and is satisfied that each Director had been spending WENHEABSEBITRECHS -
sufficient time in performing his/her responsibilities during

the Year.
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Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings were held at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and key officers of the
company secretarial team for ensuring that the Board
procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairman of the Board in consultation
with other Board members. Board meeting notice was sent to
the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular Board
meeting. For all other board meetings, reasonable notice was
given. Board papers and related materials which provide
appropriate, accurate, clear, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all Directors and relevant
committee members at least 3 days before each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting to enable the
Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached, with draft and final versions being circulated to the
Directors for their comment and records respectively, within
reasonable time after the meetings are held. Originals of
such minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time with reasonable
notice by any Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which
he/she or any of his/her associates has a material interest
and he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at the
Board meeting. INEDs, who, and whose close associates,
have no material interest in the transaction are present at
that Board meeting.

EETTERER
=

EXREEHERNGSTRT EFgE
BARMERABDWEEFRERREZE
RERE WBREBEEZSERESF PTHE
Rz BRI KRB -

ARRAMEZBT  SEREIHES
SEIREAAHMETEUERARE - &
FELECBEEINBESGENER
BITHI 14 ARETES - ERNHEMESRS
F TERHOEBHN - EFGUMHE
FIFFBEE « £k B - TBEKAEE
B—BRErXEFeeEZNEFTEESS
FZED 3 HAERTEREZNMEEEZE
SRELUBESFEHABERTE -

KEgBRWEEELUNAEREE LM
EBREFHERFALHCETESR
B LKEFREGER TR IANBRRE
ERPIEGLRTES  DAIRBERELT
ERRECEREARNRERREERZ
H-BBEgITHIEAAARABER
7 IHERESFRBEAEEBANRER
MEEFEER -

AEMERAEERSR TERZSEEDE
BEFZRRBERCNREE  AIXE
B ARESREERMIFLIERRER
ANEE - MEFREE 5 AR
BAIREFHFBEERN R ZHBESRS
REBRBERE  BASHALRZES
GEBEIEEABA - ERZPAZME
EEBMBALTHRBERND B IFH
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Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.

All members of the Audit Committee and majority members of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are
INEDs. Clear written terms of reference of all the Board
Committees are given to the respective members of these
Committees. Details of the Board Committees as at 31 March
2021 are set out below:

I. Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the
Committee), Ms. Mok Fung Lin, vy, Ms. Fan Man Seung,
Vanessa and Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee are (a)
formulating business policies and making decision
(including entering into transactions) on matters relating
to the management and day-to-day operations of the
Group; (b) making and reviewing corporate/financial/
treasury planning, investment and operation strategy of
the Group; (c) discussing and approving any financial,
borrowing, charging and guarantee commitment to be
made by or on behalf of the Group; (d) approving any
transactions, including discloseable transactions,
exempted connected transactions and non-exempted
continuing connected transactions took place from time
to time under the master agreement(s) previously
approved by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may
be) under the Listing Rules; (e) approving any
publication of relevant announcement for discloseable
transaction in relation to lease transaction recognizing
the right-of-use asset by the Company as lessee
according to HKFRS 16 “Leases”; and (f) having all
power and authorities of the Board except those matters
specifically reserved for the full Board as set out in the
“Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated
by the Board” adopted by the Board from time to time.
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2. Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Ms. Chan Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr.
Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process; (c)
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor; and (d) reviewing financial information
and overseeing the financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee held
three meetings during the Year.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting polices and principles
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of
the annual consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 (“Previous
Year”) and the interim consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September
2020;

ii. reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group;

ii. performed annual review of the non-exempted
continuing connected transactions of the Group for
the Previous Year;

iv. recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor at the 2020 annual general meeting
("2020 AGM”); and

v. approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the
independence of external auditor and approved its
engagement.

FEIZEEE (20185 1H8H
i)
EREESH=LBIIERNTESEH

B HARRREELL (ZESE
B~ Bz E BB TRE

EREEGvEREABESETR
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M () #ESNE R BT < Bl & X R
&R R (d) BEEVEERN RERY
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EREZEENAFERIT=ZREE -

REFEAR  BEREEGET
BEHFIT -

T2 IfE

HEBRE BIEAB L HINE
ﬁgﬁgﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
K ST BR LRE A2 B
IR RIEZE 20204F 3 A 31 H
HBEE (T EFE ) REE
20200 9 B30 HIENEBERZE
ERPHIRE M ERT < EEM
ST
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B
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Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee), Ms.
Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi Fai,
an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
making recommendation to the Board on (a) the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management; (b) the remuneration
of INEDs; and (c) the specific remuneration packages for
individual Executive Directors and senior management.
Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for
the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Remuneration Committee held
one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the Directors’ fees and made recommendation
to the Board; and

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/package
of the Executive Directors and senior management
and recommended the Board to approve their
specific packages.
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4. Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee),
Ms. Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs and Ms. Fan Man
Seung, Vanessa, an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board; (b)
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy; (c) determining the
policy for the nomination of Directors (“Nomination
Policy”) and identifying potential candidates for
directorship; (d) assessing the independence of INEDs;
(e) reviewing the time commitment of each Director in
performing his/her responsibilities; and (f) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment, re-election or re-designation of Directors
and succession planning for Directors. The Nomination
Committee held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

i. reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

ii. reviewed the independence of the INEDs;
iii. reviewed the confirmation from the Directors on time
commitment in performing their duties as Directors;

and

iv. made recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors at the 2020 AGM.
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Board Diversity Policy

As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy
aims to achieve diversity of the Board in the broadest
sense in order to have a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives to the business nature of
the Company. Selection of candidates on the Board is
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
also assess the merits and contribution of any Director
proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to
be appointed as Director that will bring to the Board
against the objective criteria, with due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board that would complement
the Company’s corporate strategy.

Nomination Policy

The Company had adopted a written Nomination Policy
of the Group which aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board Diversity
Policy and sets out the nomination criteria and the
nomination procedures for (i) nominating new Director to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii) making
recommendation to Shareholders regarding any director
for election or re-election at general meeting; and (iii)
nomination by Shareholders on election of new Director.
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Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8
January 2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee (“CGC”) consists
of five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), the Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs,
a representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CGC is
available on the website of the Company. The primary
duties of the CGC are (a) reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company
("CG Policy”) and making recommendations to the
Board; (b) reviewing and monitoring the policies and
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements of the Company; (c) developing,
reviewing and monitoring the codes of conduct
applicable to Directors and relevant employees of the
Group on dealings with the Company’s securities; (d)
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; and (e) reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Report. The CGC held one meeting during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the CGC during the
Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy and made recommendation
to the Board;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the said codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance
Report.

2J>E£%W§ﬂ\’ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ

E\—%@ﬂwgﬁ%ﬁiﬁ—%ﬁ
BREERERE -

TrEELEESCEREABEEER
ARARNBRLEER - bEEREES
SEFEBER () RIEIAATED
XERTAZBEREER (ThXEER
BER ) TrRESEREEERER (b)
B RERNAREEBTFTARNTER
&?”ﬁmﬁﬁzﬁﬁ&%ﬁ<dﬁ

CREREREERNAEEEEE
§§,$@T ESEFTBERCITAST
3l () B MEREE e EEE

ZIEIIRHESERE K& (e) BEA
NEBTFEEEETRRARERE
ZER PEERTESNAFELE
T—RE&E -

RAFEER  £XER
Z TERZESEFINT

REQAETT

WA EEERBUR
HEBER

RIrmEEDIRE
i. BRENEBETERELAESERESA
ZBERNER

ii. BNEEASREER K
*E%%%E

iv. &J§$&$%IW@EEZW
MAITRZER ; &

V. BEARABTEEERTAR
RERREZWERER -

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

4]



42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN L
EXRERHE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved
by the Board, plays an important role in supporting the Board
for ensuring good information flow within the Board and that
the Board policy and procedures are followed. She is
responsible for advising the Board on general duties and
obligations of Directors and good corporate governance
issues, and has facilitated induction and professional
development of the Directors. She has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had duly complied
with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code as its
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions on
terms no less exacting than the required standards for
securities dealings as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules regarding Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry to Directors, all of them confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code and Ulferts Securities Code
throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTASBILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules. The management has provided all members of the
Board with monthly updates on internal financial statements
which give a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Group’s performance, position and prospects as at the
reporting date.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern”
basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary) and showed a true view of the state of affairs of
the Group for the Year. The management had provided
sufficient explanation and information to the Board on the
consolidated financial statements to enable it to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information
put before it for approval. The auditor of the Company had
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Goals and objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation
and day-to-day running of a business and it assists a
company in achieving its business objectives. Internal
control policies and procedures within the Group are
updated regularly with the primary objective of providing
general guidance and recommendations on a basic
framework of risk management and internal control systems
(“Control Systems”).

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective Control
Systems. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

A review has been conducted on the Group’s risk
management functions and internal control measures and
procedures covering all material controls including
governance, operational, financial, and compliance controls
during the Year.

A. Internal Control
I. Governance Control

The control structure of the Control Systems is set
out as follows:

The Board

e responsible for the Control Systems and
reviewing their effectiveness

e oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing
basis with the assistance of Audit Committee

e ensure maintenance of appropriate and effective
Control Systems

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority

e determine the nature and extent of significant
risk that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the strategic objectives and formulate
the Group’s risk management strategies
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Audit Committee

review and discuss the Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the
management has performed its duty to have
effective Control Systems. This discussion
includes the adequacy of resources, staff
qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function

review the nature and extent of significant risks,
and the Company’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external
environment (as detailed in Section C(2) below)

review and discuss annually the significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified
and raised by the auditors

consider major findings on internal control
matters (if any) raised by internal or external
auditor and make recommendations to the Board

The management (includes heads of business units,
departments and divisions)

design and implement the internal control and
risk management policy and procedures duly
endorsed by senior management and the Board
properly and ensure that they are executed
effectively

monitor the Control Systems and ensure they are
executed effectively

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate risks
in their day-to-day operations

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings (if any) on internal control matters
raised by internal or external auditors

provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Control Systems

prepare organization charts to show the
reporting relationships within the operation and
management to establish line of responsibilities

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1

&

BZE

BRI TAEEBN®WE
mERS o UEREERBETT
ERELUEREZRRSECE
MM ZARBEARTE
At RS BRRBRECER
ETEREERULKEFZ
ISt AR 2Rt

A

g

BREEREARcHEERE
B DUEARAREHEERE
FONBRE (EERTXE

BER LAY W% B AP IR
KR iz B R B3 R sk
B

E RN BEP NS B AN IR H
FRAANBEERSENERSR
B(AE) TAESESRHE

2
24

BHEE (QEEFEN - 55FT

K

DEEEE)
ERBRARETHSREE
BAREFSEAMREZAR
EEMEREERRNARE
o TERZFBRLER
BLIBREAT

BEEEREERSR  LERZRS
BLIBRET

B 52 L I 0 R B M PR R
BEERR

HABNIIEEHMERZ
BEANEESEECRE (W
B) FHREOELRE

RERRFCBRMERAES
ZFHER

mRECEEBE RBEEE
NREEANREEE  LE
VEEEE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AN N
EXERHE

Internal Audit Department

e carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of adequacy and effectiveness of the Control
Systems in respect of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance
aspects

e alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities and advise them on the
implementation of necessary steps and actions
to enhance the internal controls of the Group

e report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on regular basis.

2. Operational Controls

During the Year, the management had analyzed the
control environment identified risks pertaining
thereto, and implemented various controls therein as
follows:—

i. Approach taken: The management conducts
interviews with relevant staff, reviews relevant
documentation of the Control Systems and
evaluates findings of any deficiencies in the
design of the Group’s Control Systems, provides
recommendations for improvement and assesses
the effectiveness of implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The
scope and findings of review on the Control
Systems will be reported to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee annually.

i. Procedure manuals and operational
guidelines: To safeguard the assets against
unauthorized use or disposition and ensure
maintenance of proper accounting records that
are in compliance with the applicable laws, rules
and regulations for the provision of reliable
financial that are information for internal use
and/or external publication.

A EBE1%EBFT

s HERRAGBMAEZREZ(E
EY - 2ERGRITH) Z
78R R B L EAT 2T K
B AHE

s MEEERBEHERRT
BB HAANREITR > K3
KRBV ESREITELIRES
AREERPEZET RS
RHEER

© EEREREEEREEE
3 P 25 B 2 R R
AT A

Lk 32 B i
SiEEE

REAFER EEEEHEZRR
5 R EEE B HR Rk ED AT
WM BB T L IREE © —

i FTERERTSE C BB EAHE
ETETHEW®  WERER
AMEEX M LT EAEE
ERRARRTPAREE
AARE  BREEEE 2
wLAEERBEBEZRCE
B (HER) - EERSE
RNEENMBRESFER
BEREEEWKHEER -

i. BEFEFMEEEES: RE
EE DR REEE/EMAN
RE  WLHEARESTERE
B HRANERGERES
Aracek c IR ASEMHE
P ER G A A S ST
% -

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

45



46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

lt%f—"-‘-". ‘Ai d:

Vi.

Management information system and
technology: To control over the business
activities allows close tracking of various inputs
and outputs of the Group’s business such as
inventory, products, customer information system
and human resources. It also tracks audit trails
in the authorization system under which
permissions and responsibility of authorization
are clearly identified and adequate records can
be maintained in the system.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on
regular basis such that the performance of each
point of sales and each product category can be
easily accessible.

Information flow: The transparent information
flow alerts the management promptly of any
deviations. Benchmarking with historical
database and comparisons with the same also
acts as a detecting device for spotting unusual
activities.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies are maintained including
general accident insurance on the asset in
office, warehouse, retail stores against robbery,
burglary, fire and flooding. Insurance for
unexpected operational risks and marine
insurance for cargo shipment from suppliers or
manufacturers which are not on CIF terms are
also maintained. Stocktake is conducted at least
once a year and cycle counts may be
prescribed by operation head. Daily cash count
at retail shops and reconciliation is concluded.
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vii. Quality control: starting from procurement stage
in selection of furniture suppliers and product
offering:

>

r “Ulfenbo” products and products for
special projects, suppliers and
manufacturers are required to produce
evidence of compliance such as test
reports, raw material suppliers’ certificates
and documents on electrical parts.

Before placing purchase orders with any
new furniture suppliers, the procurement
team will assess their workmanship and
product quality as well as their reputation in
the industry.

For products of new design which are
usually first released in the international
furniture exhibitions and fairs, the
procurement team will inspect the products
for workmanship and safety or quality issue.
Regular meetings are held between the
procurement team and the inspection and
repair team to exchange, discuss and
resolve any quality issue with the products.
We also engage independent third parties
from time to time to inspect products
manufactured in the PRC.

For custom-made furniture, the project team
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the
factory of our outsourced manufacturers by
checking of random samples of the finished
products on workmanship and other
specifications such as size, labelling and
packaging to verify that the finished lots
conform to such specifications before
delivery.
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When the cargo of our products are shipped
to Hong Kong, the logistics team will check
the quantity, shipping mark and package
condition of the products upon their delivery
to our warehouse. If the Company discovers
there is any damage to the container, our
logistics team will inform insurance broker
and see if surveyors need to attend the
devanning of the container. When
devanning, the logistics team will examine
the package condition to look for defect. For
products of new model or from new supplier,
our sales team will perform checking when
the goods arrive at the store for display.

If any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to
manufacturing defect, the procurement team
in conjunction with the inspection and repair
team would make a decision as to whether
or not to inspect other pieces of the same
product model from the same shipment to
see if similar manufacturing defect occurs in
the same batch of shipment.

Our management will be informed if defects
are found and our sales director will decide
whether to proceed with insurance claim
and/or liaise with the relevant supplier for
negotiation of appropriate remedy.

Purchase: The Group maintains a list of
approved suppliers for purchase of
inventory. All suppliers and their payment
terms are preapproved by CEO and
recorded in systems. CEO stipulates the
amount of inventory purchase each month
after taking into account of inventory level
and sales forecast. Inventory provision
policy is based on aging position of
inventory items and their condition. All
consignment items are approved by CEO on
a case-by-case basis.
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» Retails Sales and wholesale sales:
Discount policy and credit policy are in
place. All discounts offered must be pre-
approved by management. No credit is
given to retail customers. Goods return/
refund must be approved by management.
Consignment of Ulfenbo products to dealers
must be approved by COO.

3. Financial Controls

i. proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

ii. annual budget on all capital and revenue items
are prepared and approved by the management
before being adopted;

iii. the management monitors the business activities
closely and reviews monthly financial results of
operations against budgets/forecast;

iv. regular reports on revenue, trade receivables’
ageing and debtors’ ageing and internal
financial reports are prepared to the
management which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s
financial performance;

v. monthly updates on internal financial statements
are provided to management and all Directors
which give a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s performance,
financial position, liquidity and prospects in
sufficient details;

vi. bank reconciliation is performed on monthly
basis to identify unrecorded bank transactions;

vii. monthly inventory count is performed in
storerooms and warehouse;

viii. annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, the
Group’s accounting policies and the applicable
laws and regulations;
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daily available fund report is reviewed to monitor
the cash flows against budgets/forecast; and

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff for accounting and
financial reporting function and their training
programs.

4. Compliance Controls

The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of
Inside Information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if required),
that any material information which comes to the
knowledge of any one or more officers should be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated,
where appropriate, for the attention of the Board.
The Board shall make timely decisions on
disclosure, if necessary, and take appropriate
measures to preserve confidentiality of inside
information until proper dissemination of inside
information;

Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which shall
be reviewed and monitored regularly by the
CGC as delegated by the Board in order to
ensure that the Company is in compliance with
all the applicable laws, statues, rules and
regulations and keep up on any legal
developments;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review connected
transactions and continuing connected
transactions of the Company and ensure proper
compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;

Whistle-blowing policy for the employees of the
Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. Such
arrangement will be reviewed by the Audit
Committee which ensures that proper
arrangement is in place for fair and independent
investigation of the matters; and
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v. Anti-money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing Policy and Procedures are
established to set out the general framework for
combating crime against money laundering and
financing of terrorism. Such policy and
procedures provide guideline to prevent the
Group’s employees and clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors from being
misused for money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and have set
out some indications of potentially suspicious
transactions/activities for employees’ reference.

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal controls is tested by Internal Audit
Department regularly. Internal audit reviews and agreed
action plans should be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board on timely basis.

B. Risk Management
I. Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk management
measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and
communicate risks associated with any activity,
function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. Risk are evaluated by the Board and
management based on (i) the severity of the impact
of the risk on the Group’s financial results; (ii) the
probability that the risk will occur; and (iii) the
velocity or speed at which risk may occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risk as follows:—

— Risk elimination — the management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that
in effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation - the management may
implement risk mitigation plan designed to
reduce the likelihood, velocity or severity of the
risk to an acceptable level or contingency plan
for possible loss scenarios.
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Risk control and monitoring - it involves
making decisions regarding which risks are
acceptable and how to address those that are
not; accidents and other situations involving loss
or near-loss will be investigated and properly
documented as part of the effort to manage
risks.

Risk retention — the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required and
the risk will continue to be monitored as part of
the risk management program to ensure the
level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment.
Such significant risks of the Group and their
respective key strategies/control measures are set

out below:

2. TEREREKEE

AEECEBRERBA MFERE
FaplETERRR - REEMT
TH R Y 52 5 B KB IR DA Ko HLAE
ZEBRE G E R
T

Decline in consumption demand resulted from
downturn in economic, unstable social conditions and
outbreak of COVID-19

Facing the unfavourable market situation, the
Group:—

e proactively manages the Group’s geographical
presence and develops alternative sales
channel including online shopping;

e optimizes business operations and shop
establishments;

e takes stringent cost control measures
including human resources streamline plan,
rental concession/reduction negotiation with
landlord; and

e closely monitors inventory level.
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Interruption of supply chain due to outbreak of
COVID-19 and suspension of suppliers’
manufacturing plants

To cope with this, the Group tries to:—

diversify suppliers from different
geographical area to maintain a stable
inventory supply;

open communication channels with
customers and to explore alternative
arrangements;

maintain close contact with suppliers to
ensure that goods can be shipped once the
suppliers resume production; and

keep more stock to cater for the possible
longer lead time.

Threat of disruption of operation due to staff’s
contraction of COVID-19

COVID-19 is a highly contagious disease.
People contracting the disease and those in
close contact with the virus carrier are subject to
guarantine. Retail outlets, offices and restaurants
with staff contracting the disease in Hong Kong
are required to suspend business temporarily for
thorough disinfection. To minimize the risk:—

Everyday, Human Resources Department
will identify if there is any staff living in the
same building/estate with confirmed case on
the previous day.

All the same time, all staff living in the same
building with confirmed case are required to
report to the Company.

Staff living in the same building with
confirmed case is required to work from
home if possible, or otherwise take sick
leave with immediately effect and to
undergo COVID-19 test. Such staff may only
resume normal working after obtaining
negative test result.
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e The Company implemented split office
arrangement and shorten the business hours
of its showrooms and roadshows during the
period when the threat of community
infection was high.

e Working hours for office staff has been
adjusted to avoid the peak hours.

e The Company is providing masks for staff
and sanitizers at work place.

e There is reduction in the number of meetings
and the participants and video-conference
is used to minimize close contact among
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iv. Reliance on Hong Kong market /. 1kPEEEFS
The Company diversifies the market exposure, KANTHEHBERE  BXR
and the Group explores online option with no EERBEERE A2
territorial limitation. IR

v.  Unknown online competitors v. RHMBIRLEFFEHF
The Group is further developing and leveraging REEFE—FTHBENF A
on online and offline market. #RERAR TS -

vi. Shop location and rental expenses vi. JEEERMEEME

Shop rental is always the key cost component of
the Group. The significant fluctuation of shop
rents may affect the Group’s profitability. The
Company seeks to reduce the risk of cost
increases in the following ways:—

e establish good relationship with landlords
and developers, keep abreast of rental of
premises in the vicinity to cater for

R SR EEARENE
BRAMEBE D - [EiEE
NERNESAIESEERSE
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showroom replacement, if required; EEERFHRERYE
e explore other locations with good potential e HTEHEAXKELHEZERER
at reasonable level. Traffic and relative By o ry EH i B

position to competitors nearby are also
evaluated;

e perform profitability forecast to determine
financial viability;
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vii.

vii.

e closely monitor individual shop performance
and profitability to determine their renewal
options; and

e set up pop up stores at low rent to learn
more about the foot traffic and spending
power of the location before setting up a
long-term showroom.

Product selection

Product selection is the area where the Group
should focus on in order to make sure that we
stay ahead of the competition:

e the Group maintains a high quality
purchasing team with good market trend
knowledge; and

e regular sales meeting is held to review the
sales trend and market response to
products.

Inventories turnover management

A higher, or quicker, inventory turnover
decreases the cash conversion cycle. An
effective inventories turnover management is in
place:—

e there is regular review on inventory ageing
position and comparison with sales forecast
and market trend;

e high-value items are purchased after sales
orders are received; and

e maintain close business relationship and
communication with manufacturers to strive
for optimal and timely supply.

Cyber security risk

In order to mitigate cyber security risk, the
following measures are in place:—

e the Company's IT infrastructure is regularly
scanned and patched;

e risky external VP addresses are blocked;
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e emails are filtered for spam and malware
and training about dangerous email
attachments are provided;

e install specialized ransomware/virus
detection software in all computers;

e strict control and regular review of access
rights to the Group’s systems;

e training for personnel about dangerous
email attachments; and

e regular backups of data for recovery

D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Control
Systems of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee and
the Board, upon reviewing the Control Systems, were not
aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse
impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s
operational, financial and compliance areas of the Control
Systems.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company had adopted a written dividend policy setting
out the principles for the Board to determine appropriate
amount of dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders.
The Company intends to provide Shareholders with regular
interim and final dividends (as the case may be) based on
the earnings attributable to its Shareholders after taking into
consideration of the factors stated in the policy, including
inter alia, (i) cash flow requirements for business operations;
(ii) cash available, financial liabilities and capital
commitment; (iii) market environment and challenges; and
(iv) future development and investment opportunities. The
declaration of dividends or recommendation on such
payment shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and
regulations including but not limited to the Listing Rules, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“CO”) and the articles of association of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’
communication policy and the Board shall review it on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential
investors mainly in the following ways: (i) the holding of AGM
and extraordinary general meetings, if any, which may be
convened for specific purposes to provide opportunities for
the Shareholders to communicate directly to the Board; (ii)
the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules
and press releases providing updated information of the
Group; (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group
on the Company’s website at https://www.ulfertsintl.com; (iv)
the holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and (v)
meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participate investor road show and sector conference.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit
the Company’s website to raise enquiries through our
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are
available on the Company’s website and the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section of this annual report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings
for substantial separate issues, including re-election of
retiring Directors. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders
for the 2020 AGM was sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear
business days before the meeting and notices of all other
general meetings will be sent to the Shareholders at least 10
clear business days before the meetings.

The chairman of the 2020 AGM, the chairmen/members of
the Board Committees and the external auditor were
available at the 2020 AGM to answer questions from the
Shareholders. With the assistance of the Company Secretary,
the Chairman of the meeting had explained the procedures
for conducting a poll during the meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG
Code.
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Right to Convene/Call General Meetings

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings may send a request to the Company pursuant to
Section 566 of the CO. The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and
may include the text of resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.
Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A
request may be sent to the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form
and must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s).
Such request will be verified with the Company’s share
registrar and the Company Secretary will request the Board
to convene a general meeting within 21 days upon its
confirmation that the request is in order. Such meeting must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the
notice convening the meeting and such notice must include
notice of the resolution.

Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not
within 21 days as stated above to call a general meeting, the
Shareholders representing more than one half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves call a general
meeting, but the meeting so convened must be called for a
date not more than 3 months after the Directors become
subject to the requirement to call a meeting. The meeting
must be called in the same matter, as nearly as possible, as
that in which that meeting is required to be called by the
Directors. The business that may be dealt with at the meeting
includes a resolution to be dealt with at the meeting. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders of this
purpose must be reimbursed by the Company.

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) Shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a right
to vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the
Company to circulate a notice of a resolution to be properly
moved or is intended to be moved at that meeting. Such
request must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM,
must be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and
sent to the registered office of the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic
form not later than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if
later, the time when the notice of AGM is despatched.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Making Enquires

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable
standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the view
that the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) is
independent and had recommended the Board to re-appoint
it as the Company’s auditor at the 2021 AGM. During the
Year, EY has rendered audit services and certain non-audit
services to the Group and the remuneration paid/payable to
it by the Group is set out as follows:
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EY:

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 143, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (*“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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EY::

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KRB NI R IERA SR T AT B IH

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$47,654,000 as at 31 March 2021.
The Group periodically reviews the net realisable
value of inventories to determine whether any write-
down of inventories to their net realisable value is
required. In estimating the net realisable value of
inventories, the Group considers, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, current market
condition and other relevant factors.
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We evaluated management’s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Our procedures included
evaluating the methodologies, inputs and assumptions
used by the Group in determining the net realisable
value of inventories and the write-down of inventories
required, with reference to, inter alia, the nature,
ageing and condition of inventories, historical and
subsequent sales information, and current market
condition.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

R EEIEIR

The determination of the net realisable value of
inventories requires management to make significant
assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amount of inventories and related disclosures.
BEAZRFEFTESEBFERERNER LG - HAR
BEE AR NMIEEINE

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of the
balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating the
net realisable value of inventories.
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The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

HENREENE NG BE®RRME 3 X 15 -

Other Information Included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

8 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fraRm kA thEEIER

Year ended 31 March 2021 & ZFE20214F3831HILFE

2020
—EIEHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
REVENUE WA 5 234,504 218,853
Cost of sales $§ERA (81,613) (84,485)
Gross profit EF 152,891 134,368
Other income and gains E AW A Kz 5 9,654 4,137
Selling and distribution expenses #4 % K2 455 52 (117,312) (124,637)
General and administrative expenses —#% 1T B L (24,204) (25,042)
Finance costs 817 a4 6 (1,377) (2,677)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX B#&iaI%A () 7 19,652 (13,851)
Income tax credit/(expense) FFEFI#KE (BIZ) 10 (2,826) 2,223
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 16,826 (11,628)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
FEREAN(FiE) MEREZEKE (BB ) 8%
Attributable to: fE{L :
Owners of the parent /AR %R A 16,826 (11,628)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 12
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
BARLBEREREAEBGEERERN, (EE)
Basic and diluted (expressed in HK cents per share) 2.10 (1.45)

EARREE (SRLUBABEA)
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Annual Report 2020/202 1



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e FEIR R
31 March 2021 20214£3831H

2020
—g-%F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEREI B E

Property, plant and equipment ¥ - &M% 13 6,269 18,343
Right-of-use assets {# A& &E 14 35,776 47,943
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 3,598 10,387
TENFRIE ~ 2s R E At EWRIE

Deferred tax assets EIERIEE E 21 5,897 4,834
Total non-current assets IERBENE EHA(HE 51,540 81,507

CURRENT ASSETS mg&E

Inventories & 15 47,654 36,399
Trade receivables B ZEWZIE 16 3,261 3,440
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 18,117 14,467
TENFRIE ~ 2s KAt EWRIE

Cash and cash equivalents IR& MRS EEY 93,688 63,670
Total current assets BN EELEE 162,720 117,976

CURRENT LIABILITIES igh& &

Trade and bills payables B ZENFIENENEE 18 8,815 4,455
Other payables and accruals E &N FIE K EFTE R 19 38,200 34,417
Lease liabilities fHEA & 14 25,289 40,007
Tax payable FE{SHLIE 5,082 1,118
Provisions # /& 20 5,825 4,422
Total current liabilities JiE) & (E42%E 83,211 84,419
NET CURRENT ASSETS & & %8 79,509 33,557
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & E B RE & & 131,049 115,064

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREI & &

Lease liabilities HE & & 14 11,684 12,440
Provisions #/# 20 3,733 3,818
Total non-current liabilities JEREN & (E4E%E 15,417 16,258
Net assets &E&E/FE 115,632 98,806
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
& MR

31 March 2021 20214£3831H

2020
—EBTEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFHET TFHET

EQUITY #E2

Equity attributable to owners of the parent B2 B #H AEGH#EZE

Share capital i&A 22 110,337 110,337
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) {REB%F,( BETEE ) 5,295 (11,531)
Total equity HERARERE 115,632 98,806

Wong Chi Fai Mok Fung Lin, lvy
HE1E ZBE
Director Director

BE =

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RalEREER

Year ended 31 March 2021 & ZFE20214F3831HILFE

Retained
profits/
(accumulated
Share losses) Total
capital REBRF equity
(&S (REHEE) a3 ke
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET FET
At 1 April 2019 2 2019 F 4 A 1 H 110,337 97 110,434
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - (11,628) (11,628)

FABERLEHEEBREER

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 110,337 (11,531) 98,806
20203 831 HE 202048 1H
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - 16,826 16,826

FREA L2 EW a8 ER

At 31 March 2021 2 20214 3 A 31 H 110,337 5,295 115,632
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER
Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z 20214 3331H LFE

2020
—E=EF

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& 5H8IRESRE

Profit/(loss) before tax BBt AT, (&18) 19,652 (13,851)
Adjustments for: LN & IBFTIEFAZEE -
Finance costs BAF5a A 6 1,377 2,677
Interest income & BHA 5 (272) (930)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 15,587 16,243
W2~ BB NRBITE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 7 40,754 51,050
Gain on lease modification  EE5] W 5 - (1,120)
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant 7 171 282

and equipment

HE MHEYZE - BEMRBRECER

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 7 (38) 102
B RMGIRRE,(BORE)  FH
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net 7 (2,727) 2,374

realisable value

OB, (B EIHE ) TEZEAEIEFE

Provision for reinstatement costs — reversal of unutilised 5 - (219)
provisions/decrease in estimated provisions

BERARRE — R M BEEED T BERD

74,504 56,608
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &84 (30 ) (8,528) 7,553
Decrease in trade receivables & 5 EUERIE 4> 217 5,862
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 3,527 2,307
AR ~ B MHE BRI R
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables 4,360 (2,835)
B ZENFIANEAREE M, CRd)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 3,783 (4,629)
HENRIB R ESE B, OB )
Decrease in provisions # /&4 (1,133) (714)
Cash generated from operations & & EEFTEIHEE 76,730 64,152
Interest received B UHI & 272 930
Hong Kong profits tax refunded REF BREHR 75 3,032
Net cash flows from operating activities &K & EZEFEIRSRE I SEE 77,077 68,114
CASH FLOWS FROM AN INVESTING ACTIVITY & REIRESME
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (1,233) (8,295)

BEWX BELRBEEB
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HFRIRERESR
Year ended 31 March 2021 #;Z2021FE3831HIEEE

HK$°000
FET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES gt & 58I E R e

2020
it St 7

HK$°000
FET

Net decrease in trust receipt loans 15 WIR EFURA F58 = (4,002)
Principal portion of lease payments F & 52 &£ ERH (44,449) (563,939)
Interest portion of lease payments F &I B & D (1,377) (2,642)
Interest paid BATFI & = (35)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (45,826) (60,618)
AMEEEFTARESAEFHR

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30,018 4,201
RERRSEEYIBINFR

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 63,670 59,469
FHRESNIRSEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 93,688 63,670
FRESNIRSEEY

ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

RELRESEEBMHEBRINT

Cash and bank balances & K R1T45 85 93,688 63,670
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

Corporate and Group Information

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units
1905-07, 19th Floor, Emperor Group Centre, 288
Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the
following principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture
e wholesale of imported furniture

e project sales and consultancy service arrangements
(“special projects”)

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

In the opinion of the directors, Albert Yeung Investments
Holdings Limited (“AY Investments Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the BVI, is the ultimate holding company
of the Company. AY Investments Holdings is legally
wholly-owned by First Trust Management AG, acting as
the trustee of Albert Yeung Investments Discretionary
Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau
Shing, Albert (“Dr. Albert Yeung”).

For the purpose of these consolidated financial
statements, all companies directly or indirectly controlled
by respective private discretionary trusts set up by Dr.
Albert Yeung other than the Group are collectively
referred to as the "Emperor Group".

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

I. Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. NEIREBEER (&)
Information about subsidiaries ERMBAT ZEF
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are AAREFEBWEARZHEBEOT
as follows:

Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation ordinary equity attributable Principal
and business share capital to the Company activities

SRR RS SRITEARA AAREGERESLE TEXH

Direct Indirect

B LikES
Ulferts International British Virgin US$1 100 - Investment holding
Investment Limited Islands = wEREK

BB R ERRAF RERUHS

Ulferts of Sweden Macau MOP25,000 - 100 Liaising with project
(Macau) Limited P 25,000 J2P37T customers in Macau
ImeaE  (ORPI) BiRPIIER R P
BIRAF
Ulferts of Sweden (Far Hong Kong HK$350,000 - 100 Retail and wholesales
East) Limited B85 350,000 #JT of imported
IHELER(E (3RER) furniture, and
BRAF special projects
EORBTERER S
LTRIER
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of group
EEBRAT a5 1,000,000 7T tenancy

agent services

REEEBEREA

AR5
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company EERAE - ERFVWCAATREA
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected AT EREFEXENERAER
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of BESEERLDZHEANT - =
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other Rk BRIEEHMEEAR ZEESE
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result HNERBNTLE -

in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand (“HK$'000”) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an entity
(including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (a) the fair value of the consideration
received, (b) the fair value of any investment retained
and (c) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
(early adopted)
Definition of Material

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

2.1

2.2

mREE (#)

BHEE (F)
HAKRBRENRBARZEB A
SERNEELERE  Ex A
XEREREDANGERE KBS

HEELBERER LAl =181
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EesfMIHERSEFMERER
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BREPAR/ERRS -
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BEELGERHIEETLIER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out a
comprehensive set of concepts for financial
reporting and standard setting, and provides
guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and
assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting
financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated
definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship,
prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial
reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a
standard, and none of the concepts contained
therein override the concepts or requirements in any
standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1

22 BRI BUREEN R HEE (&)

2018 481 B 3R &5 B ML RATAERT
BBHBREER L E R YRR
X

(a) 2018 FHBREMEER ("B
SIER )R B E LERFIE
RET —EEHD LAY HER
HEREETE BN S I HRRE
1851 > WBIFTR AE AR KR E
R - MSERBEBRTENR
BEMBRENNELD  BEE
ENEERIEERIHES - L
REMEBEENRGENESR
FERBIRE - ERTEAETE
BEMNEENREMEMBRSE
RAVER - BERIEZRIIER—IR
R BRMEERESNHMSE
BEMEANBRRE - B
ERHAEENS BN NERE
WHERMERTE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business
can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and
acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to
transactions or other events that occurred on or after
1 April 2020. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
address issues affecting financial reporting in the
period before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
(“RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which
are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(d)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising
as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic.
The practical expedient applies only to rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than,
the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive
change to other terms and conditions of the lease.
The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier
application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to

HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,

HKFRS 7
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17
Amendments to

HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Annual Improvements

fo HKFRSs
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
20212

Insurance Contracts*
Insurance Contracts*”

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current*

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies*

Definition of Accounting
Estimates*

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020
to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

7 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the
temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39
rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1
January 2023

The Group is still in the process of assessing the impact
of the above new and revised HKFRSs. Further
information about those HKFRSs that are currently
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify
for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not
be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced
with an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments
provide a practical expedient to allow the effective
interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and
the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the
amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the
hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains or
losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to
meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’'s financial
instruments and risk management strategy. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied
retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the
comparative information.

23 EMMEERENCEEBUH

wELL (8)

SRV ERELERSE 9 - HEDE
R 39 5 BB ISRMEERSE 7
R BBYBRELEAS 4 B REE
IR EERIS 16 SE o BE] ARIR
BAXREEFITBERERBRA XS KR
R BB AR REEEBRER
BHREZHEE - £ _MERZBTAIR
H—IEERATEEERE  RIFYEE
TTREENBECANBRESREZ
HEESSHETSTREERENEER
RKMEFALREE  plieREBE
BAMNEXBEENECEREREEERT
EHRESRENFEENKE LER
NEEEEFIMLRIEE - o &
BT AT RE FIBEE B LA+
XHEEFEREEREFRTE R E
g AR EHEIER - BB
AEEEENEMKRNEEYEABE
B BRE RS O SENIERREE
TERE  DEENEREPENE -
ZEEBIATAERIEHERER -
A B B R 3R 4% 35 7 4 JBL B 190 RS 1
EMRAEBEAZIRE - ZERD
FEENEEHNEBEEmEE
BHEACRE  HEERBARETARE
BB R =R kR B R A ARKR 24 BB
HBRTEBER - A ZFBITAE
KREEARBRINER  DUETBER
FERERERRAR REEREY
EENcHTENRREERENE
o ZEEBTAR2021FE 181 H
N BRI EESEBARN - WES
WAER > BEEREBASINILERER -

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

8l



82

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations
that are considered a settlement of a liability. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity
first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g. an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable
to the counterparty under the contract. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which
an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendment. The amendment is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% — 33/;%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

QABKREETHRBE (&)

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE
QABKREGETBRBIE (&)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (#&)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERABEA (&)

(b) Lease liabilities (b)) HEETE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

QABKREETHRBE (&)

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to
the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance income on the
net investment in the lease is recognised in profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return over
the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition
exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an
operating lease.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

QABBKREETHRBE (%)

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could
be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for
credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred in the process of disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in profit or loss.

QABBKREETHRBE (%)

HHEMTAE

HIRES A AT A AR
B WHERLDUPEEEETES
NRAFHEERRLEERE  IH
HeMEELSRAEERNE  MFR
REBRTKZR

i

BELURARA R BENE 2 B
NG o B T B 0T 4 0
% o AIBTUBET IR E RS
FET 1 ) BB TR B A 7 AT AR A 2t

St

5_ o

HERREEFEY

AEEaRENELRME @ REATE
SFEVEERTFRRELERER > L
KA R RABENSRRE « Y
EEZHEARANSM—RENEE
=ERREPzERAEREERE
BARRBRBIEZIBITES WK
AEERSEBAKELD

MR EMBREEXNS  RELRS
SEVREFRERBITRS  BRAE
MR EHABRAZREIEMERRS
HUCEE -

1 fis

HWRBEEHERERNEE OXFE
HEESHE) METEERAUEES
KRRERINA > IEE T LIERR - 1
BEERBENAREAIEME

W RTEBAR > AIEREEZEER
RIBHBITEEMEZRRFEZ N
FHRRZHRE - BRERAEIFTER
BRI IR AR

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

97



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE
QABKREETBIREIE (&)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

98

(Continued)
Provisions (Continued)

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when a
contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the
value of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the
end of the reporting period using estimated cash flows
and an equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated
over the term of the operating lease. The estimated
future costs of reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1

B (77)

RKEHERTRARAEHEHHRE
EHECYEMELEGNEER > T
DIrg R BB AR - RIMEHRE
R REREUARBEEEE K
REEBFHEBERAREE MFEE
ESTUERLRCLHEMINE -
EEFRREERAZED N @Y BF
ERB AR (WEA) -

Frisi
FTE B B mENE LIERLERIA - i85
PUSMNERZ R BB TR NIE R
BN R E WG NEERERD
FER

R BEELBENRIAMBERE
HWRREISA TRBEE Z SBIRE
BEREHRAREERNBEE LEE
BE (RBE) 58 UEEAE
BEREMERR AERRZRITR
ERED

EERRAEREBEERREHRZE
ENEBEREREEME AR ZIKRE
BB BT EREHEE -

AR E I EE - HRHER R
EREMIREE  ETABERER |

s RUXERBEN—EARS (3F
XBaf) TeEERRERE
ARBERERIERE  WRRZE
ANERES A RS
HEE S K

s BNWBARZKREMELZE
AR ERMS BRMEE
MBOEER RS - mERT
BN A RASRATRE A REE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

QABBKREETHRBE (%)

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Fiis® (/&)

FTE ATHUR e P 1 2 B S R B IR
BRlEARBERBEHERIEE
BRERDIELERIREE - 4ERK
s A AT PR 18 AT HUBUET BRI 2 2R
R RE BB IRE % MR BT B8
EEAITER  AEERIEEES
T LIRS - T AUB RS

o HABBRHIBE R EEIEL
MEBEEERBYARER-ERXS
(EXEBEH) PEENE

B UNREGHAGHEST R

s BRNBARZKREMELZH
RERIEERRMS - ELERIA
EEENERMEZEN A RAR

SHERIEERE DT LER -

BEREMRIRE EZIREER REHRE
& WHBERNBAIREH 25 ERH
A ARIBPTESE D& Tz
EERIAEE/LL - RERIELHRIA
EENWREHAREMR @ WEREAEE
B e 4 I8 SR Bl iak A 75 R RS 3R FT  2X
O TWEZIELERREE °

BEERREELBEUABERRE
EERNEEEENEIRETE
WENBREHRERMNEE LEM
RBE (RBE) 5t8 -

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R

Annual Report 2020/2021

99



100

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

QABBKREETHRBE (%)

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

*  Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally upon delivery of the
goods.

e Consultancy service arrangements

Revenue from consultancy service arrangements is
recognised over time, using an output method to
measure the Group’s progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant services, because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group, as the Group
performs. The output method recognises revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining services promised under the
contract.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Other income

Other service income is recognised over time, using an
output method to measure the Group’s progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant services.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the scheme. This scheme
has been granted exemption under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. When an
employee leaves the scheme before his/her interest in
the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the relevant amount of the forfeited employer’s
contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit schemes (Continued)

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividend is disclosed in the note to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs
associated with certain leased properties under
operating leases attributable to the Group based on the
estimates of the expected costs to be incurred to settle
the relevant contractual obligations under the terms of
the leases at the end of the reporting period, which are
subject to uncertainties and might differ from the actual
costs to be incurred. Significant judgements and
estimates are required, including, inter alia, making
various assumptions with reference to past experience
and available information to determine the expected
costs to be incurred. Further details are included in note
20 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group periodically reviews the net realisable value
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value is required. In
estimating the net realisable value of inventories, the
Group considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and
condition of inventories, current market condition and
other relevant factors. Based on such assessment, write-
down of inventories will be made when the carrying
amount of inventories decline below their estimated net
realisable value. Due to changes in market and
economic environment and customers’ preference,
actual saleability of inventories and actual selling prices
that could be realised might be different from the original
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in these estimations.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and

Estimates (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default
in the future.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such
as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

4.

Operating Segment Information

The Group principally focuses on the retail and
wholesale of imported furniture, and special projects.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment, focuses on the operating
results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s resources
are integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from
external customers during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 were attributed to Hong Kong based
on the location of the customers or the location of
certain key processes/resources from which the
Group derived the revenues.

(b) Non-current assets

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of
the reporting period were located in Hong Kong
based on the location of the assets.

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with a single external
customer for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenue of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 5. WA~ HWW A R WS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA :

2020
—g-%F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT

Revenue from contracts with customers BF & #UA

Retail of furniture RMFE&E 216,979 198,594
Wholesale of furniture X\t 2% 8,129 9,258
Special projects — project sales and consultancy service arrangements 9,396 11,001

TiREE - BEHEEREARB R

234,504 218,853
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEESHUGA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (7)) #HUGA B
For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 #HE 2021 &R 2020F 3 B 31
HitFE

2020
—g-%F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT

Types of goods or services & T3k IRFE3EE

Sale of goods $HEE R 234,504 218,321
Consultancy service arrangements &3 BR 75 225k = 532
Total revenue from contracts with customers ZFE & X A\ 4E%E 234,504 218,853

Timing of revenue recognition U A 72 AFR

At a point in time AR —RF 24 234,504 218,321
Services transferred over time B&RSEER » RIS = 532
Total revenue from contracts with customers BF & XU AALLE 234,504 218,853
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from
performance obligations satisfied in previous
periods:

5. WA ~ EftbUIA KU (#%)
EREHWA (&)

(7)

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the

beginning of the reporting period:
RE|BERDFH AN EENEER Y

Sale of goods $HEE R

MDA EH (18 )

TRETARESHEER WD
T8 AT ARSHIOANER
WHRBEHERITENEERE

2020
—E-EE

HK$°000
FET

HK$°000
FET

18,121 22,5648

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance

obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of goods. For retail sale of furniture,
payment in advance and/or upon delivery by
customers is normally required. For wholesale of
furniture, payment is generally due within 30 to 60
days from the date of billing. For project sales,
payment is generally due based on terms agreed by
relevant parties as set out in the respective
agreements.

Consultancy service arrangements

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are rendered and payment is
generally due based on terms agreed by the
relevant parties as set out in the respective
agreements.

(77)

BHEME

ERAREBENE T2 ER AL
LU

HEE R

BREXTBEENERRNEE
B MEATEMS ' BFAF
BRAIN R BITK » 5
FERTLBEMS TR —BNREE
Z B 30 2 60 HANEIH - gt18
BIEEMS @ TR —RIZHEES
1R IR & 1 &2 P 8 1% E B9 R 52
E@ o

ZHRIEZHE
BHEE—REBIRERENEE
ZER o TR —RIZEESRES
17 & T 8L 10 E RO R SR EU R -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

5.

Revenue, Other Income and Gains (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for
the supply of custom-made furniture and other related
products and services (“project sales”) and
arrangements involving the supply of custom-made
furniture and related products and services by external
furniture suppliers to certain members of the Emperor
Group (“consultancy service arrangements”). During the
prior year, the Group’s total revenue from consultancy
service arrangements amounted to approximately
HK$532,000.

The Group entered into several contractual agreements
with certain third parties for the supply of custom-made
furniture and related services, pursuant to which the Group
directly/indirectly delivered such goods and services to
certain members of the Emperor Group and, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, these are special project
arrangements involving certain members of the Emperor
Group. During the year, the Group recognised project sales
revenues of approximately HK$285,000 (2020: HK$11,000)
under such arrangements.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follow:

Other income and gains E{thI§ A B U2

5.

WA~ HUTA KU (4)
EREHWA (&)

AEE G HETREMAEMEEE
mMRE (TTHESEE ) MBS Kb
MEATEERRNETEEEBEKERD
AftETREMAAERERLRE
ZH ("HRARBLEE,) «ETER
BRIV - R E—FE » KEBEXK
ERBHARBLECWMAREN R
532,000 J T ©

AREFHRETE=FAMHEZTFTE
HEE BB RIEET L Z D AR EE
Bt REBEE HEXNTZED
mEBRETFETREEEKE AT -
MANBDEZRE  ZSFZTHDIR
HEEFARENTIREBRLH -
FR - AEBREBEZSTHERIER
YEI AL 285,000 HIT( 2020 4E:
11,000 T ) °

HEWA RS20 -

2020
—EC-EF

—_—g =

HK$°000
FET

HK$°000
FET

Other service income EfRFFBA 1,347 1,305
Government subsidies* B fF#iEh * 7,797 -
Provision for reinstatement costs — reversal of unutilised - 219

provisions/decrease in estimated provisions

B8 AR — RE) R BB R R (st R
Gain on lease modification H &1&5] Wz - 1,120
Bank interest income 817 U A 272 930
Others Hfit 238 563
9,654 4,137

The government subsidies mainly represent subsidies
received under the Employment Support Scheme and Retail
Sector Subsidy Scheme of the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to the subsidies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

6. Finance Costs 6. HAFERLA
2020
“EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET
Interest on bank borrowings $R1TE T K & = 35
Interest on lease liabilities A& & &EF| & 1,377 2,642
1,377 2,677
7. Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 7. BRRMEER(EE)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after AEERBR R (BB )
charging/(crediting): Br(He) TSR :
2020
—EIFEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET
Cost of inventories sold and services provided 84,340 82,111
EHERERARCRERE KA
Write-down/(reversal of write-down) of inventories to net (2,727) 2,374

realisable value

o, (BEEIMOR ) FEERRFE

Total amount recognised as cost of sales EER A E A < 4248 81,613 84,485
Auditor’'s remuneration & BTl <5 850 850
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 15,587 16,243
Y%~ B RRIBZITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREZEZITE 14 40,754 51,050
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, 171 282

plant and equipment”

HEMIEYE - BB RRBIER 2B *

Lease payments not included in the measurement 14(c) 5,550 4,539
of lease liabilities Rt AHHEEEFECHENK

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration (note 8)):

BREEANRAX (NMBREFEIEZTHRAEFM (MiFEs)):

Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances 39,204 35,545
ITE -~ Fid ~ TBALIOERE

Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 1,698 1,623
RINEFEIER (EREARETE)

40,902 37,168
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables, net 16 (38) 102
B HRNIERE(BEVRE ) B8R
Foreign exchange differences, net EXZER & JF58 (123) (175)
* Included in “General and administrative expenses” in the *  FTAGZAEERAHMEERERA
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other e PSSR -

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 B ZE 202138310 IHFE
8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERITETHAEME

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the RIBEAES HRA - FEAT
Group for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules &I 383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) K (f) 1§
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock PIEEEAT (WEESEMNFER)
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong HOIE 2 SRR ENFRNREEES
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong FEEITHRAEMSHOT :

Kong Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2020
—E-EF

—_—=—=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees & 1,140 1,140

Other emoluments: Efhf4 :
Salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses ¥ ~ 285 REYETEAL 3,547 3,514

Pension scheme contributions (defined contribution schemes) 119 119
IRREET R (EREMSRETE])

3,666 3,633
4,806 4,773
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAIFITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors TR BENBIUIERNTEET B
during the year were as follows: ST
2020
—E2TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Chan Yee Man [R#& = 180 180
Chiu Kin Fai 1B 180 180
Ng Hoi Yue R8F 180 180
540 540
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRNLEENBYIERTES 2
independent non-executive directors during the year HAaEm (20204 1 #/) -
(2020: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 B ZFE 20214383310 IHFE
8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration 8. EERITETHAEME (&)

(Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) MITEEBREFTETHMAS
Salaries,
allowances and Pension
discretionary scheme
bonuses contributions Total
Fees e REER ERE remuneration
ag ByiETEAT SHEIEER gk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET AT FTET FTET
2021
g%
Executive director and the chief executive:
BTEERTBETHAE
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky 27358 150 2,238 60 2,448
Executive directors; ${TEE :
Wong Chi Fai &%)8 150 - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, lvy 28 150 1,309 59 1,518
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa S5 150 - - 150
600 3,547 119 4,266
2020
“F°ER
Executive director and the chief executive:
BTEERTIBITHMAE
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R7E58 150 2,217 60 2,427

Executive directors: ${T#E :

Wong Chi Fai 251# 150 - - 150
Mok Fung Lin, vy EB#E 150 1,297 59 1,506
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 558 150 - - 150
600 3,514 119 4,233
There was no arrangement under which a director or TR BESEXETZBTHAE
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any BB EA LT RENRERET
remuneration during the year. NS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

9. Five Highest Paid Employees 9. ZFEm==HES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FRN AREFRAEESHEEREM
year included two directors (2020: two directors), details ZEE (2020 F - MBEE) H
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. SHBHENLEXHWFES  EHB =4
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining (20205 : =) LEARRQRAESE
three (2020: three) highest paid employees who are NIEFETHAECZCESFHFEER
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are FRZMESFFBNT -
as follows:
2020
d- et 5= 3
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHExT
Salaries, allowances and discretionary bonuses %74 ~ ;285 MEYIBETEAL 2,541 2,556
Pension scheme contributions R E 5T 2|5k 86 86
2,627 2,642
The number of non-director and non-chief executive MEAETINBERNCIEEEREEE
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within ITHRAECESHEEABMT :

the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAY

2020

t et 3= 3

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Nil to HK$1,000,000 &£ 1,000,000 #&JT 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 &7t 1,500,000 #&JT 1 1
3 3
During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by FR - AEBWEMIFEELIFEETE
the Group to the non-director and non-chief executive THRABZ ESHIES I EN
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or FAEE - EAESIIMARERRR
upon joining the Group or as compensation for the loss AR B & < 8B =k B i 8 8

of office (2020: Nil). (2020 4F : M) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

10. Income Tax 10. FRIEM
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of EBMNERIENEREEBELEL
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits (HEHER BB FMIZ R X 16.5% (2020
arising in Hong Kong during the year. 1 16.5%) fEHEE -

2020
—EC-EE

—_—a =

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

Current — Hong Kong BHi — &%

Charge for the year R H 3,889 138
Underprovision in prior years BFFERERE = 5
Deferred (note 21) #EZE (FizEt 21) (1,063) (2,366)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FEFRFLIES (K% ) 4258 2,826 (2,223)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to RBEEEERER (KABEAERK
profit/(loss) before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax A REH B AR FTEREREE L
rate (statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the ERMXR) GFEEARBREI SRR
Company and the majority of the Group’s operating (B8 ) 2BIBRY (KR ) BHigK
subsidiaries are domiciled) to the tax charge/(credit) at EFHEERMNIRSFE I HRELLE S
the Group's effective tax rate is as follows: () WIRM T -
2020
t- et 523
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELETREA (E518) 19,652 (13,851)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate of 16.5% 3,243 (2,285)
BEBEERE 16.5% stEHEBEXH (%)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of previous periods - 5
BT AR B HA R TE S 2
Income not subject to tax FEEEELZ WA (1,331) (192)
Expenses not deductible for tax A AJHIF: 5 S 433 600
Others E At 481 (351)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rate 2,826 (2,223)

BAEBBERRERFEZHESIH (ER)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

12.

DIVIDEND

HKO0.63 cent (2020: Nil) per ordinary share
A% 0.63 3l (2020 4 * &)

Proposed final —
BRI S —RES

11.

2020
—E—EE

—_—=—=

HK$°000
FET

HK$’000
FET
5,040 -

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of
HK$16,826,000 (2020: HK$11,628,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 800,000,000
(2020: 800,000,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share is based on:

Earnings/(loss) &%) (&18)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent used in

the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

12.

AEEREANBEERT(BE) FRASARTERERES AESG

A, (EER)

REERIRAPREBAFARTKRE
EAFE):Hxi FREEHERTTAE

o

Eﬂ

\
!

FAE L@ IRERES ARG
BREFN (BE)

BREARBA () TRBEFERNET
NEEBERESERS ABEGR
(E538) 16,826,000 37T (2020 4
11,628,000 BT ) KMFEABE RITE S
A& hNE S 988 800,000,000 Mi( 2020
£ 1 800,000,000 &) :t&

REBREZE 2021 FE K 20203 B
STHIEFEYEEBETHESERZ
ERITEEK -

NI RBEFTEERERNLE SR
AR 28E

2020
—EC_EF

—_—g =

HK$°000
FET

HK$°000
FET

16,826 (11,628)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATR R AT

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

12. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Attributable to 122.BRAREBRERER AEMN
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Parent BREF (EBE) (&)

(Continued)

Number of shares
BmEE

Shares %5

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 800,000,000 800,000,000
used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share calculation

SAREREANEERT (BER) FRZEANERTEARMETHIH

13. Property, Plant and Equipment 13. 9% - BE KRG

Furniture, fixtures
Leasehold and equipment Motor
improvements Bt KB vehicles Total

HEMRERE Raxfi Al WwiEmEE

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER FERT FET

31 March 2021 2021 £3H8 31 H

At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020:
20203831 HN2020E4 8 1R

Cost BiA 75,625 13,982 2,198 91,805

Accumulated depreciation £5H7& (58,810) (12,660) (1,992) (73,462)

Net carrying amount BREEE 16,815 1,322 206 18,343
At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated depreciation 16,815 1,322 206 18,343
2020 4 B 10 IREE
Additions R E 2,451 748 485 3,684
Disposal/write-off & /#isk (133) (38) - (171)
Depreciation provided during the year FERNITEREE (14,894) (570) (123) (15,587)
At 31 March 2021, net of accumulated depreciation 4,239 1,462 568 6,269

PR 2021FE 3 A 315 HBREATE

At 31 March 2021: /R 202143 A 310 :

Cost BiA 62,055 5,529 2,397 69,981
Accumulated depreciation £3H#7% (57,816) (4,067) (1,829) (63,712)
Net carrying amount 3RE3E 4,239 1,462 568 6,269
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 B E 2021438310 LFE
13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13.M)35% ~ BB K% (##)

Furniture, fixtures
Leasehold and equipment Motor
improvements 7~ KE vehicles Total

HEMREE K& fis at: REEE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TiEn TET TEx TEn

31 March 2020 2020 £3 B 31 H
At 1 April 2019:

R2019F 4818
Cost BiA 72,259 13,588 2,198 88,045
Accumulated depreciation £zTH15 (43,188) (12,121) (1,910) (57,219)
Net carrying amount SREBE 29,071 1,467 288 30,826
At 1 April 2019, net of accumulated depreciation 29,071 1,467 288 30,826
R2019F 4 A 10 MRRHTE
Additions /HE 3,643 399 - 4,042
Disposalfwrite-off & /i (277) (5) - (282)
Depreciation provided during the year FERHTEEE (15,622) (539) (82) (16,243)
At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated depreciation 16,815 1,322 206 18,343

R 202063 831 B HIRRFHE

At 31 March 2020: 72 2020 £ 3 3311 :

Cost fi A& 75,625 13,982 2,198 91,805
Accumulated depreciation £zT75 (58,810) (12,660) (1,992) (73,462)
Net carrying amount SREFE 16,815 1,322 206 18,343
14. Leases 14. 88
The Group as a lessee AEEERAHEA
The Group has lease contracts for certain of its office AREEHEBERNESECETHAY
properties, retail stores, warehouses and equipment ¥ FEE-RABENERRH MELE
used in its operations. Leases of properties and B HABREA—ZRE -

equipment generally have lease terms of 1 to 5 years.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

14. Leases (Continued) 14.f88& (%)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERKBA (/)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EFHESE
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use FAXREEERREECERAE
assets and the movements during the year are as EsEsEy) T
follows:

Properties and

equipment

L EY R

HK$’000

TFH&T

As at 1 April 2019 72 2019 F 4 B 1 H 75,157
Additions /NE 23,836
Depreciation charge #r&x H (51,050)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 2 2020 £ 3 A 31 HAX 202044 A 1 H 47,943
Additions /RNE 29,146
Transfer to sublease E#ZF & (388)
Lease modification HHE &5 (171)
Depreciation charge #r&3x H (40,754)
As at 31 March 2021 j2 20214 3 A 31 H 35,776

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEE &
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the FRNHECECEEEBENNEES
movements during the year are as follows: T

2020

—ECEH

HK$°000 HK$°000

THET TH&T

Carrying amount at 1 April A 4 B 1 B2 EREIE 52,447 83,909
New leases ¥ E 29,146 22477
Lease modification & E5] (171) -

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 1,377 2,642

FREERFEILE

Payments {I5% (45,826) (56,581)

Carrying amount at 31 March 72 3 B 31 HZREIE 36,973 52,447

Analysed into: 244 :

Current portion R E)E 25,289 40,007

Non-current portion JEFREIER D 11,684 12,440
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed MESBECIHAE TN BHR
in note 29 to the financial statements. FHIEE 29 #HEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

14. Leases (Continued) 14.f88& (%)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) TEBERAMEA (/&)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) NBERERZEERBE ST
leases are as follows: TN

2020

—EBCTH

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FET

Interest on lease liabilities FAE& &R & 1,377 2,642
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZITEX H 40,754 51,050
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with 4,818 4,238

remaining lease terms ended on or before 31 March 2020
(included in selling and distribution expenses)

SIS E MR TAREN 20204 3 A 31 BRZEIERZ
BB EREMRX (FTAEERDHERX)

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in - 301
administrative expense and selling and distribution expenses)

BEEEEEHERE AN (FAATHRALILEERDHFE)

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 732 -
liabilities (included in selling and distribution expenses)
Rt NHEEEHECAERENT (FTAHE D HERAX)

Total amount recognised in profit or loss PRIB x5 HER 2 4258 47,681 58,231
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HEBRS R B EBENTBREHM
24(c) to the financial statements. &t 24(c) HE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

14. Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(e) Extension options

14. 18 (&)
AEBERAMEA (/&)
(e) HEHHEREE

The Group has several lease contracts that include AREEHBE THESERRER
extension options. These options are negotiated by MWEESY « ZEEREHPSE
management to provide flexibility in managing the BEBUESEFTEEHEHEEEHS
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the TWEREFBWEBEREF - T
Group’s business needs. Set out below are the NEY EERIEERTERRR
undiscounted potential future rental payments HEEENREEIRBERKRES
relating to periods following the exercise date of T (FNEEETHEERFZW)
extension options that are not included in the lease
terms:
2021 2021 £
Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total
RERZMT hEBEM et
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THET FHET TH&T
Extension options expected not to be exercised 66,563 9,004 75,567
TEEARIEIT (L B R ERE
2020 2020

Extension options expected not to be exercised

TRHIREIT 2 SRR ERE

Payable Payable
within after
five years five years Total

hERZ T hERZM #aat

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
82,660 34,379 117,039

Ulferts International Limited Bi{tEfFERA R
Annual Report 2020/2021

121



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

14. Leases (Continued) 14.f88& (%)
The Group as a lessor AEBERERAA
The Group subleases certain carparks under a finance AEERBEMEREHELHELEE
lease arrangement, with the lease negotiated for a term TiEHG  mEefHBER=F -

of three years.

At 31 March 2021, the undiscounted lease payments MR2021FE 3831 H AEEHEETH
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- FPARAIBEAMERE TR ARKRIAERE
cancellable finance lease with its tenant are as follows: WK SIRANT -

2020

—EEHE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within one year —& R 390 1,540
After one year but within two years —F & BRHERN = 390
390 1,930

15. Inventories 15. 78

2020

ke

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Goods held for sale FEHHEE # 47,654 36,399

16. Trade Receivables 16. B S EWFRIE

2020

—EEHE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade receivables & 5 EWFIIE 3,375 3,592
Impairment JB{& (114) (152)
3,261 3,440
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

16. Trade Receivables (Continued)

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by
major credit/debit cards, with the settlement from the
corresponding banks or other financial institutions
normally within 7 to 30 days. The Group’s trading terms
with its wholesale, project and consultancy service
customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance and/or upon
delivery is normally required. The credit period for these
customers is generally one to two months, extending up
to six months for major project and consultancy service
customers, or based on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and overdue balances are
reviewed by senior management. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

16. E B EWFRIA (&)

AEECTEHERE LRSS NN
DEZERF/MERFPRAXN &
RITHEMEBEBEETIN T2
30 HAMEE - AEEEEMSBRES
HEEFP LHARBER ZE SRR
FERLUEERNGER  EFEF—
RIEN TRZFAN N RRENKT
NEE - REFEPEEN—RE—
EMER > AIR/REEZMEERS ML
ARBEF RZERE/NERNIZM
BARESBRAMBBEHR - &
B NRBEEBERFEZEBYGR
0 ITHSHEERERBHMEXR
REEN EE B 5 BUGRIAERTT
BEMEARIEMEREER -
B2 BYBGRIAERREE -

R|BEWR » FEREE ZBBGIRR
RERAP KRBT

2020
it el 7

HK$°000
FET

HK$°000
FET

Within 1 month —BB A 2,799 2,808
1 to 3 months —Z =1 A 460 449
Over 3 months =@ A8 AL 2 183

3,261 3,440

Included in the Group’s trade receivables was an
amount due from a member of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$66,000 as at 31 March 2020.

R20206 3831 B REEMEZE
WRIE B B R 2R E KB A RN
TH#Y 66,000 T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

16. Trade Receivables (Continued) 16. B S EYFRIE (&)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of B o EWIEREEERECEEE
trade receivables are as follows: BN

2020

it 2 2

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET

At beginning of year R 152 50
Impairment losses, net (note 7) JBEEE @ 38 (ML 7) (38) 102
At end of year AR 114 152
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting NERE B BB EEREEITR
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BEAN  LIGtE2TRESEEEIE - &BiE
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due RINENZBERE D IETHHET
for groupings of various customer segments. The BEAN B EETE - FETERMNIRE

calculation reflects information that is available at the HEEBNEEBEENH - BREK
reporting date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

3t

RBEARRTR (BE) NEH -

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TYHI(EABEEREELAERE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a SERZIERRNEERMBINER !
provision matrix:
As at 31 March 2021 202138 31 H
Past due
B HA
Less than 1to 3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
EEl 4mM—ERBR —Z=EB =@ABMNUL
Expected credit loss rate 2.29% 8.33% 14.81% - 3.38%
TEHEEEIEE
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 2,796 552 27 - 3,375
EREE (TA7T)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 64 46 4 - 114

AMEEERR (THT)

As at 31 March 2020 F2020F 3 H 31 H
Past due
#iHEA
Less than 1to 3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months
B 42M—EA —EFE=EA =EAUL
Expected credit loss rate 2.42% 12.66% 14.09% 17.39% 4.23%
TRHEERBEX
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 3,018 237 291 46 3,592
n VEN EE@{E ( :F/%TE )
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 73 30 41 8 152

BMEEERR (THET)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

17. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

17.JAF IR ~ IRER H b B

IR

2020
—E-EF

—_—=—=

HK$’000 HK$°000
TET TET

Prepayments T8{J5r18 807 671
Deposits and other receivables* &< K HADEIFRIE * 20,908 24,183
21,715 24,854
Less: Non-current portion J& © 3EBIEEH (3,598) (10,387)
Current portion jRB)E0 2 18,117 14,467

* Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were
amounts due from certain members of the Emperor Group of
approximately HK$2,528,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$2,512,000) which are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

None of the financial assets included in the above
balances was either past due or impaired as at 31 March
2021 and 2020. The financial assets included in the
above balances related to deposits and other
receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. Their recoverability was
assessed with reference to the credit status of the
debtors, and the expected credit loss as at 31 March
2021 and 2020 was considered by management to be
minimal.

*  FR2021E3H31H BRETHESR
EBKEATFIAL 2,528,000 7 JT
(2020 4E : 2,512,000 3BT ) F AR
EERS REMBWEIE  BEIEH
FERBREREIE -

72021 & 202043 H31 HEtA L
MAER A SRl E E MR BN
B stALE R SR E ERITHR
W KRR R s SR AR S
REMMEWGRIERE - A UgEl 4Ty
R2EFEHEANEERTTME > LR
2021 % 20204 3 B 31 HWTEHAS
EFEEWHEEERAR/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

18. Trade and Bills Payables 1. ESEMREREMERE
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at RBERR ESENRERENE
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice BIRBEZHHEBOTAOT ¢

date, is as follows:

2020
it a2
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Within 1 month —E B A 7,924 3,613
1 to 3 months —Z=1EH 205 34
Over 3 months =@ AL 686 808
8,815 4,455
The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing BoENTEBERENEEARGTER
and are normally settled on terms of 60 to 120 days. —fEBR 60 HZE 120 HRAES -
The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts REBEZENTIBENMENEZIESE
denominated in the following foreign currencies: LITRB oMt E o~ 2008
2020
t. - Jem 5 2
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
United States dollar (“US$”) 2=t ("8 J) 331 297
Euro (“EUR") Bt (" BT .) 7,186 3,452
7,517 3,749
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

19. Other Payables and Accruals 19. B FE(I SN IBE R FEET B B
2020
. af P2
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Other payables and accruals EAth #3518 & fE 512 A (a) 14,074 15,104
Contract liabilities & &1& (b) 24,126 19,313
38,200 34,417
Notes: Bg5E
(a) Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals was an (a) F20214E 3B 31 HENHEEEERK
amount due to a member of the Emperor Group of BATIEL 6,273,000 # T (2020
approximately HK$6,273,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: £F 18,853,000 /870 ) sTAAREEHEM
HK$8,853,000), which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and FESFIBNESTE R &R ITE A RIE
has no fixed terms of repayment. Except for the above, other R ENEETEEZR - RLME
payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term b EENFIERAR  FHIHRR
of one month. —@A -
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) BREFEZFHFBERIIAT

31 March 31 March 1 April

2021 2020 2019
—g-—% -B-¥F "B-AF

=R=+—H =A=+—H mB—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET FET

Consideration received from customers in advance

BEREFANLRE

Sale of goods $HELE 22,901 19,243 22,287

Sale of gift vouchers $HE®BZ5 1,225 70 317

Total contract liabilities B4 & E42%8 24,126 19,313 22,604
Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance EHNEBEBRRIIRNEDHEINNINL
of the delivery of goods and for the sale of gift vouchers. BRIEERS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE
20. 1w

20. Provisions

128

Pursuant to the terms of the relevant tenancy
agreements, the Group, as the lessee of certain
properties under operating leases, has the obligations to
reinstate its leased properties to their original state or to
a condition as specified in the respective tenancy
agreements at the cost of the Group at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

REBBHEERZEGRN  25EFER
RERERTETHERZABARE
BHEMER IR AEREBE
HEAMXZERRNESEHEHZ
FTREMT  BERBEARERKIE -

Provisions for
reinstatement costs

e @A R i

2020
—EC-EF

—_—=—=

HK$’000
FET

HK$’000
FET

At beginning of year JAEH] 8,240 8,426
Additional provisions ZB&ME & 2,451 747
Amounts utilised during the year FNEEIFH SR (1,133) (714)
Reversal of unutilised amounts/decrease in estimated provisions - (219)
RE ARt BERD

At 31 March % 3 A 31 H 9,558 8,240
Less: Non-current portion J& : FJEFBIEE S (3,733) (3,818)
Current portion JREEL 2 5,825 4,422

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

21. Deferred Tax Assets 21 BEEIRIBEE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year EIERIBEENRNERNZ

are as follows:

BT

Depreciation in
excess of

related
depreciation
allowance

BeBRITE

BiEziheE

HK$°000
FET

At 1 April 2019 /X 201944 B 1 H 2,468
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year st AFE N85 2 IEIEFHIE 10 2,366
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 72 2020 £ 3 A 31 BNX 20205 4 A 1 H 4,834
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year st A N85 2 B IEFHIE 10 1,063
At 31 March 2021 7 20214 3 A 31 H 5,897

22. Share Capital 22. g

Shares B 12

HK$°000
FET

Issued and fully paid Shares: B2$1T NMEBEEEKRH

2020
—E-EF

—_—=—=

HK$°000
FET

800,000,000 (2020: 800,000,000) ordinary shares 110,337 110,337
800,000,000 (2020 4F : 800,000,000 ) LM
23. Share Option Scheme 23. FERRIEET S
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share RATR 2018 4F 1 A 8 Bk —I&
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018. The principal terms BT EI(T B ERTE L) - B
of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows: Al EFEHERBANT -
(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) FBRRHEETEIZEHBY
To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate BARAEERTS ~ B LHEE
talented eligible participants to strive for future AR aERSHBLIEREE
developments and expansion of the Group. Epd PN T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

23. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(b)

O)

(d)

(e)

U}

Eligibility

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any director (executive or independent non-
executive director), any employee of any member of
the Group, any trustee of a trust whose beneficiaries
or objects include any employee or business
associate of the Group, any adviser or consultant to
the Group, any provider of goods and/or services to
the Group, or any other person who the board of
directors of the Company considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i) total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme as at 8 January 2018
(i.e. the date of passing the resolution for
adoption of the Share Option Scheme):
80,000,000 shares.

(ii) percentage of the issued shares of the Company

that it represents as at 8 June 2021: 10%.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
under the Share Option Scheme

(i) in aggregate not to exceed 1% of the shares in
issue in any 12-month period unless approved
by the shareholders; and

options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors or their
respective associates in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with
a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved by the shareholders.

Period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option

At any time during the option period in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and such
other terms and conditions upon which an option
was granted from the date of grant of the option but
in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of
grant.

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

No minimum period unless otherwise determined by
the board of directors.

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1

23.BBPBRIEETE (#8)
(b) &%

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

BRESSCEER2EERR
AEBEAXEABZEMNES
(AITHBIUIFATES ) EM
BE X AXNZRHARBEAR
SEEMEEXNEHBBEANG
AERNEMETEA  NEBEAE
AAEA A ANEBEMNE®
B/ RRBB i R A AR E
E22RENERAEAEEEER
%fﬂﬁ%f’ﬁﬂjﬁﬁﬁfz&ﬂﬁﬁﬂ

HFRTZRM EREE

(h 2018 FE 1B 8B (BN@
BERMEREST S CRER
HE) REEBRESTSAT
BT 2 K B OE:
80,000,000 & °

(i) R 20216 A 8 HIEAAN

AeRTRAzE AL

10% ©

RIBEIESTE  BEEEKS
HETEIRES LR

(i) BRIFEREHE  BRIEDT
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0.1% RE{E##E 5,000,000

TR R -

1T BB AR R BB i 0 -z HABR

RIFBRES S ZERANBERY
BREAPERDBRENZE
HAe R RN BRESRZ
EAEE - EREMBRT A
SHEBRHABET 1045 -

BRETENLAFEZREH
PR

BRFEFESTEE  TRIALE
RGHR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRpfIEE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

23. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

()

(h)

()

No

(i) Price payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of
the payments or calls must be repaid: Not
applicable.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors of the Company and will not be less than
the higher of (a) the Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares on the date of grant; and (b)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Approximately 6.5 years (expiring on 7 January
2028).

share option has been granted under the Share

Option Scheme since its adoption date.

24. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows

(@)

Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year, additional provisions for
reinstatement costs in respect of certain leased
properties of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$2,451,000 (2020: HK$747,000)
were recognised and these amounts were
recognised as part of the cost of related
property, plant and equipment of the Group and
reflected as additions to leasehold improvements
of the Group during the year.

(ii) During the year, the Group had non-cash additions

to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of

HK$29,146,000 (2020: HK$23,836,000) and

HK$29,146,000 (2020: HK$22,477,000),

respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for

leased properties.

23. RERR1EETEI (22)

(9)

(h)

(i)

(i) HRSIRMBRERPTAR
TRIRE © 1.00 BT

(i) 7R AJ AR Y SR A8 A Y R
ZHARR ¥ B EIREET 28 A
AR

(i) FEN R BAA KA BNE
MEZEPR - ANER -

EETHEECEE
THEEDHAANAESSET
EARFER TR EE (a) RIX
B HIARA B AR 2 B AR AT T
B kO REEREABER
(EEEJERN/NCI: g7 A S SN
P& -

RBRRHEETBI 2R T 18

Ne65F (N2028FE187H
B ) °

BERERT RN AL - SEBK
BREBKRE S ERY -

(a)

2. IFEIMERNERMEE

FEFRERD

(i) ER AAEBEETHAY
E2FEHEZBERAEIER
FBANB A 2,451,000 3BT

(20204F:747,0005T ) -
BBERERRAALEEEE
ME - BENREERAZ—
o WREREI RAEAE
B HEMEEEBRE -

(i MER AEEFRBERYE
ZEELRHD RIS FE AR
EEMMESBECIERESR
& 29,146,000 % JT (2020
£ 123,836,000 % T ) &
29,146,000 T (2020 4!
22,477,000 T ) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

24. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash 24. i8IS HEXRMEE (&)
Flows (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEHELEZEBEZEH
activities

Lease

liabilities

HEas

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 April 2020 2 2020 4 A 1 H 52,447
Changes from financing cash flows BI &R &R B2 H) (45,826)
New leases #HHHE 29,146
Lease modification & &3 171)
Interest expense Xl 5% 1,377
At 31 March 2021 /2 20214 3 B 31 H 36,973

2020
—BEF

Lease Bank

liabilities borrowings

HEaE RITERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

At 1 April 2019 72 2019 4 A 1 H 83,909 4,002
Changes from financing cash flows RIEIR &R E 2 5 (56,581) (4,002)
New leases & 22,477 -
Interest expense & 2 2,642 -
At 31 March 2020 72 20204 3 B 31 H 52,447 -

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEZHRERHETE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the SFABRESRERCHECRESR
statement of cash flows is as follows: HAABEIINT -

2020

—EBEF

HK$°’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Within operating activities &4 5EB) A 5,550 4,539

Within financing activities R EEEA 45,826 56,581

51,376 61,120
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

25. Related Party Transactions 25. B 52 5

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and
balances detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions

(a) BRI BHREREMMITATFHALZR

5

LHERERIN  AEERF

NEETREEEREATELU

with certain members of the Emperor Group during N5
the year:

2020
—ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Project sales ITHR 4 & (i) 8,981 9,212
Interest expense on lease liabilities FHE & &2 A B X (i) 224 603
Lease payments HHE 7k (ii) 7,198 8,312
Reimbursement of administrative expenses {TIE X 2 &+ (iii) 2,211 1,813
Financial advisory fees Bi R & (iv) 330 320
Company secretarial fees ARMEE (v) 160 160

Notes:

(i) The project sales were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

(i) During the year, the Group had certain lease
arrangements ranging from one month to three years with
certain members of the Emperor Group in connection
with the leasing of certain office properties and retail
stores. The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at
31 March 2021 were HK$1,097,000 (2020:
HK$7,389,000) and HK$1,902,000 (2020:
HK$10,637,000), respectively.

(iii) The reimbursement of administrative expenses charged
was with reference to the costs incurred by the relevant

party.

The financial advisory fees were charged based on terms
as set out in the relevant agreement.

The company secretarial fees were charged based on
terms as set out in the relevant agreement.

fist -

Q)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

HEHEDNERAMEETIZEE
1R 2% PIT 8 18 12 o R RIET -

RAFE  AEERAEETH
NEYPERSEERHEETER
EEXRENRI VA —EAZE
=EAETHRERSE R 2021 F
3A3TH FRAEEEREESA
&5 BIA 1,097,000 3575 (2020
17,389,000 7T )& 1,902,000
7% JT (2020 £ : 10,637,000 &
JT) e

Wz T2 EZEE S
BEEZRAENS -

Fri B 2 I R B R &I N E
B8 175 2 2 IR FR U

NAWEBDNREEEBRATR
R BRERUEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

25. Related Party Transactions (Continued) 25. R 53 5 (7E)

(b) The amount due from the immediate holding (b) STARANBRRENE E 2 FEWE %
company included in the Company’s current assets AR I AR - B R
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on NBERENREIR -
demand.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) NEEFESBAEFHFH -
Group:

2020

—ETTEFH

HK$°000 HK$°000

TAET TAET

Fees 1 1,140 1,140
Short-term employee benefits 48 Hi{E 2184 6,088 6,070
Post-employment benefits BiEH+E A 204 205
6,292 6,275

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 7,432 7,415

NFEZEBABCHIMRLE

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EFELTFETHRAEMES  HAh
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial HBEN M ERERMEE S -
statements.
26. Contingent Liabilities 26. W ABE
At 31 March 2021, contingent liabilities not provided for 20214 3 A 31 H » KEEIL KRR
by the Group in the financial statements were as follows: B RRELEBRHzABENT -

2020
—E-%x

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a landlord in lieu of a rental 1,773 2,635
deposit required under a tenancy agreement

BREA—RFEFEHZRITER  DLREBEERERECHERE

In connection with a bank guarantee given to a customer in lieu of a 171 171
surety bond required under a project sales agreement
BEM—ZERFELZRTER  DURBEBHERIREZBNRE

1,944 2,706
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

27. Financial Instruments by Category 27. RERE P 2EMIEA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of ZENEeMTERKEHERCKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting mr

period are as follows:

Financial assets ERMEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REHMATEZEMEE

2020

—E-EE

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET THET

Trade receivables & 5 EWGIIE 3,261 3,440

Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20,908 22,737
FTATENFIE » 2 LEMEBRGEIEN S/ EE

Cash and cash equivalents & MRS ZEY) 93,688 63,670

117,857 89,847

Financial liabilities TMERE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHMATEZEMERE

2020

—E-EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Trade and bills payables & 2 {45018 & T 2R 8,815 4,455

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 12,069 13,951
SFAHRMMENRIBELEERNEHEE

Lease liabilities fHE& & 36,973 52,447

57,857 70,853
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAFSERaRbfIEE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

28.

29.

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
reasonably approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables, accruals and other liabilities,
reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities/repayable on demand of
these instruments or the effect of discounting is not
material.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and
bills payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables, accruals and other financial liabilities, which
mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

29. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the
Group denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. For the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, certain purchases of the
Group were denominated in EUR, which is different from
the functional currencies of the respective operating units.
The directors of the Company do not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate as
the HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the EUR exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss)
before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary
assets and liabilities).

2021

If HK$ weakens against EUR 47T 5 BUTE B

If HK$ strengthens against EUR {##& T R BT FHE
2020

If HK$ weakens against EUR {437t X B TE B

If HK$ strengthens against EUR {#&7T R E T HE

290. AR EIEBIRERBUR ()

b EE 2 B

AEEBAZRZESRR - ZFR
BFEREAEELLEMIEHHE
BAAREBRDIB T AETTEZET
Ead (ZFEMIEEE LI
ZEEE ) o PAELE 2021 2 2020 £ 3
A3THLEFE  AEHEfTET
KEDLE O THE - BEEREEM
ZINEEEEAER - RATEETEHE
TTABTEREREAGEREANERNK
g RABTEETESE  REiR/N
BEESEERNLE -

TREFNBREPREMEEMEE
RIFAEZBRT » NEERBADS
A (BR)EBRTERATRHRECE
HRE (REBEEREBEZRAFE
2E) ) <HBRE -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit/(loss)
in EUR before
exchange tax
rate BR#RAl
EXTEESR T (B5a)
(R ) (R )
% HK$’000

THET

5 (359)

(5) 359

5 173

(5) (173)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE
29. MEEIEEIEBERBR (&)

29. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the
Group’s general policy that customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

EERE

AEBERERTHEERIKZE=
HETEEEE - AREZERR
MERRENTEEEECEFRYAE
BEERERR o LI BUGRIESS
BRI AR EEEETER  MA
SEEHCERBEBRARK

Maximum exposure and year-end staging AR ER FREER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TEREINN3IA I HIREARERS
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s BHRRNEEERNT ARG

credit policy, which are mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2021

12-month
ECLs
+={@R8

SRk (RIFEFHHALERAN
BAMAESEMER H SAEEER
REBRER ) RERMEERIE - FT
2R ATHEENBREE -

R 2021FE 3831 H

FREAEE Lifetime ECLs
g2z EHFEIERRE
Simplified
approach Total
E PR E=PEE [k et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TAET TAET TAET TAET FAET
Trade receivables* & ZfEWFRIE * - - - 3,375 3,375

Stage 1
E—PEE

Stage 2 Stage 3

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

STATAIFRIA ~ e R EMEWEIRN

TREE

- Normal** 1E& ** 20,908 - - - 20,908
Cash and cash equivalents
RENRSFEY

— Not yet past due [HEHA 93,688 - - - 93,688

114,596 = = 3,375 117,971
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

29. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 29. MEREIEEIEBERBIR (&)
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) SMEERE (75 )
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) RABEERFEREE (/&)
As at 31 March 2020 202043 A 31 H

12-month
ECLs

+=@EA

TRHIEE Lifetime ECLs
] 2 HpFRHEEEE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—HEER ETREE 2 F=REERE 0 BiErE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T#T T#T T#T F#T T#T
Trade receivables* B ZEWFRIE * - - - 3,592 3,592

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
STATENFIR ~ 2SR EMEKGRIER

TREE
— Normal** IE& ** 22,737 - - - 22,737
Cash and cash equivalents
RENRESEEY
— Not yet past due [HREHA 63,670 - - - 63,670
86,407 - - 3,592 89,999
* For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified * MAEBEIE S EWFIBEFE AR
approach for impairment, further detailed information is BRE E—THBRUBREMT
disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements. 16 #EEE ©
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in o FFATEN IR ~ Re N EMEKR
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to THEENEEESEERBHRER
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no HTEE  TTEMSRENBERS/ME
information indicating that the financial assets had a EBVERLIREERMAEZEIE
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE
29. MEEIEEIEBERBR (&)

29. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

REE L R b

AEBEERFREZES UM EH
HemaEaRaAE AEEER
EEEETRASECRAEHNERNE

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to
meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities.
Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior
management on an on-going basis, considering the EZEHEREREGIE IEHIRS
maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities and financial ME X MEFERESHEESY RTINS
assets, and projected cash flows from operations. ME o

AEERKRERRCSHMEBEERE
SRR RATCERERNT ¢

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Less than
On demand 1 year

REXR DPR—5F
HK$°000

1 to 5 years Total
—ER%E seat

HK$°000 HK$’000

HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

31 March 2021 2021 &£ 3 B 31 H

Trade and bills payables - 8,815 - 8,815
B ERENRIELENRE
Financial liabilities included in 6,273 5,796 - 12,069

other payables and accruals
STARfMENRIBENETERANSREE

Lease liabilities HE& & - 25,915 11,863 37,778

140

6,273

40,526

11,863

58,662

31 March 2020 2020 £3 B 31 H

On demand

REK

HK$’000
FET

Less than
1 year
PR—E

HK$’000
FET

1 to 5 years
—EhEF

HK$’000
FET

Total
HEEn

HK$’000
FERT

Trade and bills payables - 4,455 - 4,455
B ENRIE R EN &
Financial liabilities included in 8,853 5,098 - 13,951
other payables and accruals
FEAEMENKIBREFTERNESREE
Lease liabilities A& & (& - 40,835 13,113 53,948
8,853 50,388 13,113 72,354
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

29. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000 of
which HK$15,725,000 was utilised as at 31 March 2021.
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$97,000,000, of
which an aggregate amount of HK$9,926,000 was
utilised as at 31 March 2020.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020.

290. AR EIEBIRERBUR ()

REBEERE (F)

R 2021F 3 A 31 H  AEEZRIT
R EHRREX) B 97,000,000 T - HAp
N2021EFE3A3THBE & A L
15,725,000 77T ° 7Y 2020 4 3 B 31
H AEEBECRITREZEREN R
97,000,000 A& JT * E R 2020 &F 3
A31HEBB#EREA 9,926,000 &
IT o

BEAREIR

AEEBEARAEHE T ZHERERA
SERmOERERE TS
B WHEFRECEANLE  DIXF
EXBLEERSKRER -

AEE R B KB 2 21 KB
BEZERISHEEEANERELF
HFAE - AHFNAREARERE - K
EEUAEARRTFREZKSE B
BEATFRERBITHRG - RNEE
2021 M 2020 3 B 31 HIEHE
B AEBEBEAZBE R
BFWEDIRED -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RAFSER IR GE

31 March 2021 #F2021FE3831HIEEE

30. Statement of Financial Position of the 30. KA B 2B FEAR R 3R
Company
Information about the statement of financial position of MNIREEAREEANAT T HERTERZ
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as ERa
follows:

2020
—EC_EF

—_— =

HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERBNEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIFB AT ZEE 6,065 6,065

CURRENT ASSETS i &E

Due from subsidiaries FEU B /A R FIE 40,718 84,977
Due from the immediate holding company FEW B 1% &N B 5 I8 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents I & KIREZEEY 59,811 15,640
Total current assets BN & EEE 100,532 100,620

CURRENT LIABILITIES hg&aE

Other payables and accruals EAth fE{ 5118 & fE5TE B 585 600
NET CURRENT ASSETS M &&EFE 99,947 100,020
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #2&E R E 106,012 106,085
Net assets &EEFE 106,012 106,085
EQUITY #2%
Share capital fgA& 110,337 110,337
Accumulated losses (note) ZtE548 (fizt) (4,325) (4,252)
Total equity HEz42%8 106,012 106,085
Wong Chi Fai Mok Fung Lin, Ivy
BGIE EpBE
Director Director
BE BE

Ulferts International Limited EX{tEIFEBEIRA T
Annual Report 2020/202 1



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RATSER IR EE

31 March 2021 & F2021FE3831HIEEE

30. Statement of Financial Position of the 30. KRB 2B FEAR TR (#)
Company (Continued)
Note: Mzt -
A summary of the movements in the Company’s accumulated RNBlw RstEBEEEHAnT :

losses is as follows:

Accumulated

losses

REtEE

HK$’000

THET

At 1 April 2019 A 2019 F 4 B 1 H (3,097)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year F£ R E18 N 2 HE1EE%E (1,155)
At 31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 7 20204 3 A 31 Hf 20204 4 B 1 H (4,252)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year £ X E18 N 2 HE S48 (73)
At 31 March 2021 }2 20214 3 B 31 H (4,325)

31. Approval of the Financial Statements 1. ERIFEIRR
The financial statements were approved and authorised R ERE N 2021 FE6 A8 HES
for issue by the board of directors on 8 June 2021. EeHOENESRETE o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RIEELIE S

The following table summarises the results, assets and T &REFIAERBREZE 2017 £~ 2018
liabilities of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2017, 4 ~ 2019 & ~ 2020 £ 20214 3 A 371
2018, 2019, 2020 and 2021: AtFECXE -EEREE

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the XREBEEZE 2017H£ 3 H 31 HIEFEECE
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 was extracted from #& - BENKAEHEREEAAT A A

the prospectus of the Company dated 16 January 2018. 20184 1 B 16 HZHBKRER -

For the year ended 31 March
BE3H 31 HLEFE

2017 2018 2019 2020

—F—tF “F-\F “F-AF -“F-FF

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET

Results &

Revenue g A 224,331 258,553 242,959 218,853 234,504
Profit/(loss) before tax i EI A (B8 ) 35,572 12,546 (4,621) (13,851) 19,652
Income tax credit/(expense) (5,427) (4,069) 643 2,223 (2,826)
Frigsise,(Fx)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 30,145 8,477 (3,978) (11,628) 16,826

BARER AEEEF, (&)

As at 31 March
m3B31H

2017 2018 2019 2020

—F—tF “F-\F “F-AF -“F-FF

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET

Assets and liabilities EE R & &

Total assets A& ZE 111,378 176,442 174,535 199,483 214,260
Total liabilities 2 & (& (36,479) (60,794) (62,865) (100,677) (98,628)
Net assets & EF{E 74,899 115,648 111,670 98,806 115,632
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 74,899 115,648 111,670 98,806 115,632

ISYNCIE 2PN L £

In the prior year, the Group had applied HKFRS 16. RE—FE  AEECERSSTBERE
Accordingly, certain comparative information for the years | 16 9% o FItk » 8= 2017 ££ ~ 2018
ended 31 March 2017, 2018 and 2019 may not be K 2019438 31 HIFFEEZEFHE
comparable to the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2021 as &R AAJEEZE 2020 £ 5 202143 8 31
such comparative information was prepared under HKAS 17. HIEFEELE  BERAZSHEER TR
BEABGFERE 7 RER -
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